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COMMISSIONER: Yes, now for the time being we are in open 
hearing. 

MR WOODS: Yes. Commissioner, there's to be some 
discussion today which will no doubt have to be done in 
closed hearing about how the Commission will receive and 
consider evidence relating to a different individual, not 
Ms Gobbo. There's a number of parties who have applied for 
leave to appear before you in relation to that application. 
It's, as I say, inevitable that it will have to be dealt 
with in closed session and then depending on your ruling as 
to how it's best dealt with, it will either continue in a 
closed session or it might even be more of a closed session 
if that makes sense. 

COMMISSIONER: Yes. Perhaps I should have dealt with the 
appearances. 

MR WOODS: Yes. 

COMMISSIONER: They're largely as they were yesterday 
except we have Mr Goodwin for the State, Mr Otter is here 
representing various media interests. We have Mr Koh for 
Faruk Orman. Mr Wareham for Pasquale Barbaro. Ms Dwyer 
for John Higgs. Mr Condello for Salvatore Agresta, 
Francesco Madafferi and Giovanni Polimeni. And I note that 
there has been an application for leave to appear which has 
not yet been dealt with and more particulars have been 
asked for in respect of which witnesses from Alessio 
Acquaro, who has been represented by Ms Georgia Agar who 
was here yesterday but I don't think is here today. 

MR CHAPLIN-BURCH: Commissioner, I appear on behalf of 
Alessio Acquaro in relation to that. Ms Agar is not here, 
I'm her officer - - -

COMMISSIONER: I'm sorry, your name? 

MR CHAPLIN-BURCH: Mr Chaplin-Burch, Commissioner. 

COMMISSIONER: Right. What's the position? Is Mr Acquaro 
applying for leave in respect of this witness Mr Black? 

MR CHAPLIN-BURCH: Yes, Your Honour, he is. 

COMMISSIONER: And I understand the reasons why. The 
application for leave of course relates only to public 
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hearings. Mr Woods, it would seem appropriate that leave 
be granted in respect of public hearings. 

MR WOODS: Yes, it should be in my submission. 

COMMISSIONER: And nobody has any submissions to the 
contrary I take it? I'll give you leave to appear, 
Mr Chaplin-Burch, for Alessio Acquaro in respect of public 
hearings. 

11 MR CHAPLIN-BURCH: Thank you Commissioner. 
12 

09 : 43 : 57 13 
09 : 43 : 58 14 
09 : 43 : 59 15 
09 : 44 : 01 16 
09 : 44 : 04 17 
09 : 44 : 05 18 
09 : 44 : 11 19 
09 : 44 : 15 20 
09 : 44 : 18 21 
09 : 44 : 18 22 
09 : 44 : 18 23 
09 : 44 : 21 24 
09 : 44 : 23 25 
09 : 44 : 23 26 
09 : 44 : 26 27 
09 : 44 : 26 28 
09 : 44 : 27 29 
09 : 44 : 27 30 
09 : 44 : 28 31 
09 : 44 : 33 32 
09 : 44 : 33 33 
09 : 44 : 34 34 
09 : 44 : 36 35 
09 : 44 : 38 36 
09 : 44 : 39 37 
09 : 44 : 40 38 
09 : 44 : 42 39 
09 : 44 : 44 40 
09 : 44 : 47 41 
09 : 44 : 47 42 
09 : 44 : 48 43 
09 : 44 : 52 44 
09 : 44 : 56 45 
09 : 44 : 58 46 
09 : 44 : 58 47 

COMMISSIONER: All right. 

MR HOLT: I will see just speak to my learned friend 
briefly, Commissioner. 

MR WOODS: So the issues pertain not only to the current 
witness but also to the next witness, Mr Buick, and so I 
just wanted to make sure that was clear to those who are 
seeking leave. 

COMMISSIONER: Yes, but only in respect of a small portion 
of the evidence of those two witnesses. 

MR WOODS: We anticipate quite a small portion of the 
evidence, that's right. 

COMMISSIONER: Yes. 

MR WOODS: That's probably about all we can say in an open 
public hearing. 

COMMISSIONER: The application is Mr Halt's, perhaps we 
should hear from Mr Halt next. Thanks Mr Woods. Yes 
Mr Halt. 

MR HOLT: Yes, Commissioner, you have our application. The 
difficulty of course is raising any aspect of that 
application other than in the hearing of the nature we were 
in yesterday. 

COMMISSIONER: Yes. Perhaps the first hurdle is to decide 
whether there should be a more closed hearing to hear the 
application and who should be present for that. 

MR HOLT: Yes. Our submission, Commissioner, is the closed 

.24/10/19 8215 

 
 
This document has been redacted for Public Interest Immunity claims made by Victoria Police. 
                                                       These claims are not yet resolved. 



09 : 45 : 01 1 
09 : 45 : 04 2 
09 : 45 : 08 3 
09 : 45 : 12 4 
09 : 45 : 16 5 
09 : 45 : 21 6 
09 : 45 : 23 7 
09 : 45 : 28 8 
09 : 45 : 34 9 
09 : 45 : 36 10 
09 : 45 : 39 11 
09 : 45 : 41 12 
09 : 45 : 44 13 
09 : 45 : 46 14 
09 : 45 : 48 15 
09 : 45 : 50 16 
09 : 45 : 55 17 
09 : 45 : 56 18 
09 : 45 : 58 19 
09 : 46 : 04 20 
09 : 46 : 06 21 
09 : 46 : 06 22 
09 : 46 : 09 23 
09 : 46 : 18 24 
09 : 46 : 18 25 
09 : 46 : 18 26 
09 : 46 : 19 27 
09 : 46 : 20 28 
09 : 46 : 25 29 
09 : 46 : 26 30 
09 : 46 : 27 31 
09 : 46 : 31 32 
09 : 46 : 34 33 
09 : 46 : 38 34 
09 : 46 : 42 35 
09 : 46 : 45 36 
09 : 46 : 48 37 
09 : 46 : 51 38 
09 : 46 : 54 39 
09 : 46 : 59 40 
09 : 47 : 07 41 
09 : 47 : 10 42 
09 : 47 : 12 43 
09 : 47 : 14 44 
09 : 47 : 15 45 
09 : 47 : 20 46 
09 : 47 : 27 47 

VPL.0018.0006.0702 

hearing to hear the application must necessarily be as it 
was yesterday, that is with only those parties present, 
including Mr Otter for the media, for those purposes 
because there are matters that, even by the very argument 
of them, reveal the issue and will defeat the nature of the 
application that is otherwise to be made. A separate 
question of whether the persons who are seeking leave to 
appear otherwise, and what submissions they want to make, 
may in our respectful submission more sensibly be dealt 
with following that in a less closed hearing, if I can put 
it that way. I can't make the submissions that I need to 
make in the presence of those people, in effect, because it 
would defeat the purpose of the application. 

COMMISSIONER: I think you were going to make inqu1r1es 
overnight as to whether Mr Chettle was to be present. 

MR HOLT: Yes, Mr Chettle should be subject to an 
undertaking which he will be very familiar with having 
given on many occasions. 

COMMISSIONER: There will be the legal representatives of 
the witness and Mr Buick is represented by you, is that - -

MR HOLT: Yes, Commissioner. 

COMMISSIONER: By VicPol. What about Ms Gobbo, was that 
looked into? 

MR COLLINSON: We by definition just don't have much of an 
appreciation of what the subject matter is. So we have 
spoken in a general way to Mr Woods and we understand that 
it leads down a road which ends up involving aspects of 
conduct that do concern Ms Gobbo. In that connection, of 
course, the Commission is well familiar with the 
undertaking that Mr Nathwani and I have given not to 
disclose any information we acquire to anybody, including 
Ms Gobbo generally, and I might also add that we have also 
now been given access to things like Mr Bateson's diary at 
the police location which disclose things beyond the 
conduct of Ms Gobbo. In those circumstances, Commissioner, 
we'd ask to remain present. 

COMMISSIONER: Yes. I think it's probably fair to say that 
at this stage it couldn't be said any higher than it may 
involve Ms Gobbo. That would probably be the highest it 
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could be put. 

MR COLLINSON: With respect that ought to be sufficient on 
the basis of the undertaking. 

COMMISSIONER: Yes, all right. We'll see what's to be said 
about that. Now, for those other parties - what about the 
Commonwealth, the DPP and the OPP and the Commonwealth DPP, 
did you make inquiries - yes. 

MS O'GORMAN: Nothing to say, Commissioner, other than 
unlike Ms Gobbo's counsel, we have absolutely no 
understanding of what this application is about. 

COMMISSIONER: I thought you were going to make some 
inquiries as to whether they would want to be present. 

MR HOLT: Yes Commissioner. The difficulty is I can't 

COMMISSIONER: Can't tell them what it's about. It is a 
bit Kafkaesque, isn't it? 

MR HOLT: It is at one level, Commissioner, of course. At 
another level we're at the rubber hitting the road point on 
the issues that were always going to arise in this 
Commission at a certain stage. This first question, the 
one which we're seeking to deal with in a very closed 
hearing, is simply the question of how then that subject 
matter gets dealt with following. It doesn't determine 
whether it will be dealt with, we've already conceded that 
it should be, it's just about how it will be dealt with. 
Our respectful submission is that extraordinary caution 
ought be taken, given the legal position. I can't say much 
obviously, but the legal position in relation to when one 
takes the step that is intended to be taken. In respect of 
Ms Gobbo's counsel, and none of this should be taken as 
anything in respect of the counsel who are appearing, and 
I'm sure they know that, but the question of how the 
hearings ought proceed in respect of this issue is not one 
that primarily in our respectful submission concerns them, 
and any link at this stage is barely existent. And if it 
gets to that point of course they'll be included but, no 
one else knows of course what we're talking about in terms 
of what we're asking for, but what I can say is we're not 
suggesting these issues not be ventilated. This is only an 
application about how they be ventilated and we need to be 
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able to make that in a frank and straightforward way with 
the Commission and that should be done with the fewest 
possible people in the room is our submission. 

COMMISSIONER: Yes. 

MR COLLINSON: Can I say, Commissioner, just to assist, we 
won't press our application to be present upon this 
preliminary application in the circumstances. 

COMMISSIONER: You can be sure, Mr Collinson, that if 
anything arises that affects your client, even indirectly, 
the Commission will do everything possible to ensure that 
you're kept in the loop about that. 

MR COLLINSON: Yes. I must say Mr Nathwani urges upon me 
that it definitely does, but we won't develop that for 
present purposes. 

COMMISSIONER: Yes. In that case it might be worth having 
a conversation with counsel assisting as to the ways in 
which it does so that that can be explored in the closed 
hearing and then if some fruit comes of it we'll make sure 
that you're appropriately notified. 

MR COLLINSON: If the Commissioner pleases. 

COMMISSIONER: And I perhaps should now ask if there are 
any other people with leave to appear in respect to this 
witness who wish to be heard? I think what can be said is 
that the application obviously concerns the grave safety of 
individuals. 

MR WAREHAM: Commissioner, I would seek leave to appear. I 
don't want to traverse things that can't be said, I've had 
a conversation at least briefly with Mr Woods this morning 
about what the position of Mr Barbaro is and I'm prepared 
at this point to be guided by Mr Woods and the Commission 
staff. I would be agitating that at least after the 
position of how the matter is to proceed, if that's dealt 
with in my absence, then we would seek leave to appear in 
respect of this matter. Does the Commissioner - - -

COMMISSIONER: You're wanting to be present during his 
examination? 

MR WAREHAM: Yes, I am. 
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COMMISSIONER: I understand that. 

MR WAREHAM: At least on a confined point, and I'm prepared 
to be booted out after that. Certainly the issue has been 
raised with Mr Woods about what my position is. We're 
prepared to give an undertaking and I'm prepared to give 
others, and I can go into that if need be at a later date 
about how our position has developed in the last little 
while. 

COMMISSIONER: Yes, all right then. 

MS AVIS: Can I raise a query on behalf of the 
Commonwealth. We are just concerned we are not able to be 
- make a submission to you whether we should be present or 
not without any idea of who this relates to. It is clear 
there may be some overlap in terms of the Commonwealth. We 
are simply unaware of anything at all in order to be able 
to make an assessment (indistinct). 

COMMISSIONER: Yes. 

MR WOODS: That's unfortunately the environment we're in 
given the nature of the material. Commissioner, just 
picking up on what Mr Halt said earlier, it might be to 
properly, for Victoria Police to properly ventilate and to 
speak candidly about their application and the evidence on 
which it's based, that would need to be done in the absence 
of really all other parties except counsel assisting and 
Victoria Police. For counsel assisting to be able to 
assist you in relation to this, this is a threshold issue 
as to how the evidence should be received and who should be 
allowed in the room, we could articulate that in a closed 
hearing, we could do it openly and we could assist you, if 
all of the cards are on the table, that's something that's 
going to be a lot more difficult because of what is 
submitted by Victoria Police were other parties able to be 
in the room to ventilate that threshold issue. So in my 
submission it might be best to have that discussion in very 
closed hearing, the Commissioner then determine how things 
will proceed. I understand the difficulty for other 
parties who would want to be there to state their position 
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but because of the nature of these things, and when one 
considers how they're dealt with before a court it wouldn't 
be unusual to progress things in that manner, so in my 
submission that's what we should do. 

COMMISSIONER: Before we do that, Ms Dwyer, is there 
anything you wish to say? 

MS DWYER: No, I don't understand that this issue relates 
to Mr Higgs. 

COMMISSIONER: No, thanks Ms Dwyer. Mr Chaplin-Burch, is 
there anything you wanted to say? 

MR HOLT: Can that actually be taken from the record at 
this point if we're publicly streaming and no publication 
of that? 

COMMISSIONER: Yes, all right. If it relates to a 
particular issue, what was your submission? 

MR CHAPLIN-BURCH: That it would be relevant to my client 
obviously seeking leave to remain in the Commission. 

COMMISSIONER: All right then. Mr Halt, and other legal 
representatives, it's probably best to proceed as Mr Woods 
suggests now in a closed hearing with those that Victoria 
Police is content to have present to determine how we 
proceed in a closed hearing. Would you agree, Mr Halt? 

MR HOLT: Yes, Commissioner. 

COMMISSIONER: So that means that under s.24 of the 
Inquiries Act access to the inquiry during the application 
of Victoria Police commencing at 9.55 am is limited to 
legal representatives and staff assisting the Royal 
Commission, the legal representatives of the State of 
Victoria, Victoria Police, media representatives of the 
Herald and Weekly Times Pty Ltd, Nationwide News Pty Ltd, 
The Age Company Ltd and the Australian Broadcasting 
Corporation and legal representatives of the witness. The 
hearing is to be recorded but not streamed or broadcast. A 
copy of this order is to be posted on the door of the 
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hearing room. 

MR HOLT: If the Commissioner pleases. 

MR WOODS: Commissioner, that requires I think a brief 
closing down. 

COMMISSIONER: No, it doesn't because it's not completely 
closed. 

MR WOODS: I see, I understand. 

COMMISSIONER: I think that's right, or do we need to, do 
we need an adjournment? We're just not streaming or 
broadcasting and nothing, I should also make a 
non-publication order in respect of what is said in this 
hearing. We still need to. No, apparently we still do 
need to have an adjournment. 

MR HOLT: Commissioner, I think the order relates to legal 
representatives for Victoria Police. In addition is 
Superintendent McKinney who is a police officer but not a 
legal representative and I seek for Superintendent McKinney 
to stay. 

COMMISSIONER: Are you content with that, Mr Woods? 

MR WOODS: I think Mr Halt will need instructions so that's 
appropriate. 

COMMISSIONER: Superintendent. 

MR HOLT: McKinney, M-c-K-i-n-n-e-y. 

COMMISSIONER: I'll add that to the list and there is to be 
no publication - I'll add also there is to be no 
publication of anything said in this hearing. 

MR HOLT: As the Commissioner pleases. 

COMMISSIONER: Until further order. We'll adjourn now to 
allow the necessary technicalities to be attended to. 

(Short adjournment.) 

(IN CAMERA CONFIDENTIAL PROCEEDINGS FOLLOW) 
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PROCEEDINGS IN OPEN HEARING: 

COMMISSIONER: Yes, after carefully considering the 
information placed before me in the closed hearing by 
counsel for Victoria Police and also hearing the 
submissions of counsel assisting the Commission and 
Mr Otter on the part of various media interests, I am 
persuaded that it is necessary to make the following orders 
for when this evidence, this witness gives evidence on a 
particular topic. When that evidence is given, pursuant to 
s.26 of the Inquiries Act 2014 until further order evidence 
related to the person referred to as and to be 
known by the pseudonym Mr MacCallum, in the confidential 
affidavit of Scott Damien Mahoney sworn on 23 October 2019, 
is not to be published on the Royal Commission website. 
The hearing of any evidence relating to Mr MacCallum is to 
take place within a closed hearing without media present. 
Persons present at that closed hearing is to be limited to 
Royal Commission staff and the following legal 
representatives, including their instructing solicitors: 
counsel assisting, Victoria Police and Inspector McKinney, 
the State of Victoria, Herald and Weekly Times Pty Ltd, 
Nationwide News Pty Ltd, The Age Company Ltd, and the 
Australian Broadcasting Corporation. Publication is 
prohibited of any material that would lead to the real 
identity of -or Mr MacCallum being revealed. The 
witness statements and other materials referring to 1111111 
llor Mr MacCallum is not to be disseminated to legal 
representatives with leave to appear at the Royal 
Commission beyond those representatives referred to above. 
The real name of Mr MacCallum is to be recorded in a 
separate confidential affidavit to Exhibit RC81 and any 
reference to this person is to be by way of the pseudonym. 

The confidential affidavits in support of the 
application resulting in these orders is to be placed in a 
sealed envelope marked confidential and is not to be opened 
by anyone other than Commission staff without an order from 
the Commission. 

MR HOLT: Commissioner, could I raise two matters with 
respect to that. Firstly I think it excluded, and 
probably didn't intend to, Mr Chettle as counsel. 

COMMISSIONER: Mr Chettle was forgotten, that's right. 
Yes, I'll add in there and the witness's legal 
representatives - of the witness, I'll just add in the 
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witness. 

MR HOLT: Thank you Commissioner. Can I just raise this 
also, the order links the pseudonym with the previous 
pseudonym if I can put it that~ we ask there be no 
publication of the first- thelllllllllreference, 
Commissioner, because it will link the two. 

COMMISSIONER: Publication is prohibited of any material 
that would lead to the identity of- or 
Mr MacCallum. 

MR HOLT: Yes, it's the use of lllllllllbecause it then 
defeats of the use of the new pseudonym. 

COMMISSIONER: I see. Will I just refer to Mr MacCallum 
right through? 

MR HOLT: Yes Commissioner. 

COMMISSIONER: I'll amend that order to take out any 
reference to 11111111. 
MR HOLT: If that could be obviously struck out from the 
record today or the live stream I'd be grateful. 

COMMISSIONER: Yes, all right then. A copy of this order 
will be posted on the hearing room door. 

MR WOODS: Just one other thing. In the order I think it's 
peculiar to the current witness, we're about to go back to 
Mr Black, but there's evidence that the next witness 
Mr Buick will give as well. 

COMMISSIONER: There will have to be a separate order made 
at that point, but it will be made in similar terms. 

MR WOODS: All right. 

COMMISSIONER: Is there anything else, Mr Woods, you want 
to say about the order? 

MR WOODS: No, thank you. 

COMMISSIONER: Could I just say that those who have leave 
to appear in respect of this witness and who have questions 
that they think should be asked should give those questions 
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and any information based on, on which those questions are 
based to counsel assisting and you can be sure that they'll 
be thoroughly explored and appropriately explored in the 
closed hearing. 

MR WOODS: Just for their purposes too, Commissioner, I 
should be clear that how the evidence will be dealt with 
hasn't been considered yet by the Commission, how it will 
ultimately be dealt with. So that assistance that they 
give us, if they wish to, might be of assistance to them 
down the track once we see. 

COMMISSIONER: Absolutely, yes. I understand we're 
resuming with the witness who is on the line and I 
understand we're resuming in open hearing. 

MR WINNEKE: Yes, Commissioner. 

COMMISSIONER: Yes. 

<OFFICER BLACK, recalled: 

COMMISSIONER: Mr Otter, the Commission will keep you 
informed as to when those closed hearings are likely to 
occur so that your convenience can be met. 

MR OTTER: Thank you. 

COMMISSIONER: Thank you. 

MR WINNEKE: Thanks Commissioner. Now, Mr Black, can you 
hear me? Are you there?---Yes. Yes, I can. 

We're in open hearing, as you appreciate, so obviously we 
have to be a bit careful about mentioning those names or 
that particular name which we've been dealing with, so 
we'll see if we can do it in a way that prevents that name 
from being mentioned or anything that identifies that 
person, do you understand that?---Thank you, yes. 

You've got your diaries there, do you?---Yes. 

As I understand it you've got your original diaries and 
you've got some photocopies of diaries, is that 
right?---Correct. 

If you can go to your original diary or any other diary 
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which has the 19th of April 2006, that would be of 
assistance, Mr Black. What I want to ask you is whether 
you were involved in a meeting with Mr White and Mr Smith 
at about 18:00 hours, 6 pm on that day?---Yes, sorry, what 
time was that? 

18:00?---Sorry, on 19 April - - -

2006?---I'm just finding the page now. 

It will be page probably 58?---Sorry, I apologise, what was 
that reference? 

It will be p.58, I've got p.57?---Yes, I've got it now, 
it's Wednesday 19 April 2006. 

Yes?---And you're referring to a meeting at 18:00? 

That's correct?---No, I wasn't there. I'm at the office. 

You're at the office. What do your notes say about 18:00 
hours because I'll tell you what I've got?---Sure. 

I've got Mr White's diaries which appears to say that he 
meets with Mr Smith and you at about 18:00 hours and 
there's a discussion about Ms Gobbo?---Okay. So at 17.30 
I'm at the office, then Coro and inquiries. At 18:45 I'm 
reviewing some source material that relates to another 
individual and 38. 

And 38?---Yes. 

So you are dealing with 38, I assume that's 3838, 
Ms Gobbo?---Sorry, I apologise, yes, 3838 and another 
source material. I'm just dealing with outstanding items, 
I've got no reference to speaking specifically with Sandy 
White at that stage but I'm at the office from 17:30 to 
21:30. 

At various stages dealing with correspondence and matters 
concerning Ms Gobbo?---Yes. 

Look, let me just put a couple of matters to you. As I 
understand it from your evidence yesterday there was at 
least an understanding on your part that there was an issue 
as to whether or not Ms Gobbo was going to attend at the 
police station at the time of the arrest of the person that 
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we've been, we're talking about, right?---! accept that. I 
had no involvement in that. 

No, I follow that. There's a discussion, according to 
Mr White's diaries, there's a discussion, as I say, that he 
has apparently with you and with Mr Smith and it goes along 
these lines, the issue regarding Ms Gobbo representing the 
person after arrest. So, so far it's an issue that you 
were aware of at or about that time anyway?---! accept the 
diary note if that's what he's got. 

It says this, that, "Evidence from", and then it has 
initials reflecting that person, "Implicating self may not 
be admissible if counsel not impartial". Now, that's the 
next note and obviously that's an indication of the matters 
that were discussed and according to Mr White's diary 
discussed with you and Mr Smith. Now, do you accept that 
it may well be that that was a matter that was 
discussed?---I'd be surprised that I didn't make a diary 
entry of a discussion of that nature. 

Right?---Because whilst reflecting on my diaries I'm just 
tending to Coro and inquiries relating to two particular 
sources. It's not even dedicated to 3838 if I may. 

In any event is it fair to say again that these were issues 
that you were aware of at the time, that is around the 
19th, the 20th and so forth of April 2006?---I accept that 
proposition, yes. 

The next words are, "Agreed investigators to be warned" -
it says "invest to be warned", "Intended" -it says, 
"Intended" -

MR CHETTLE: Commissioner, this is Exhibit 392. 

MR WINNEKE: I can put it up, VPL.0100. 

COMMISSIONER: Thanks Mr Chettle. 

MR WINNEKE: VPL.0100.0096.0186. What it appears to say, 
"Investigators to be warned. Intended that the person will 
be interviewed prior to recruitment pitch", right. Have 
you got that on the screen in front of you?---! have now, 
thank you. 

"Big picture is Mokbel cartel", and then underneath the tab 
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the initials of the person is, "One inquiry re same", 
something like that in any event, do you see that 
there?---Yes. 

"Investigators intend to use that person", and I think
"as witness if he agrees, possible" - then there's a word 
there I mightn't mention - "and he is to visit Milad, 
Horty, El-Hage and Malkouns. Purana request that DSU 
assist in the usage, in the process", do you see 
that?---Yes. 

So effectively what's being set out there is what was being 
discussed in this meeting, it may or may not have been you 
there, it appears to say your initials, or it might be the 
initials of another investigator, another handler, but in 
any event you were one of the nominated handlers at this 
stage with respect to Ms Gobbo, correct?---! had been. 

Yes?---May I - I'm just a little troubled that I haven't 
got any reference to this meeting in my diary. 

I understand that?---Am I able to look at the start of this 
diary entry because it seems quite an extensive diary entry 
which sort of suggests it's a pretty significant discussion 
point, I'm just a little lost as 

Can we go to the previous page? Do you see the 18:00? 
Just highlight that part there so Mr Black can see that. 
That's it?---Because I'm normally pretty good with my 
diaries. 

I accept that. But you see it does appear to have your 
initials. If you see the way that letter is drawn and the 
letter is drawn underneath it in much the same way, do you 
see what I mean?---Now that I have the benefit of, I've 
been reading, I haven't read Sandy White's diaries for many 
years. May I suggest that that's not, that's not the right 
initials. I think you might be referring, that might be an 
entry in relation to officer-in-charge Rob Hardy. 

You think that's an R?---Because I'm not there, I'm not at 
that meeting. That's why I'm rather surprised, because I 
don't remember this, I haven't got it reflected in my 
diary. 

I accept that. I suppose the point is this though, you are 
there, conceivably you go to a meeting, you're not taking 
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notes, Mr White's taking notes, and these are matters that 
are being discussed. Now, that's at least conceivable, 
isn't it?---Look I'm sorry, but I don't recall being at 
that meeting and I don't think that diary entry reflects 
the fact I was. I think you will see find that's RH, not 
the alternative. 

I think we better, because of what you - I follow that. In 
any event, I suppose the point might be this. Let's just 
assume for a moment that you're there. The issues that are 
being discussed are issues that you're cognisant of in any 
event. So if, for example, we read evidence from, "The 
person implicating himself may not be admissible if counsel 
is not impartial", ultimately they're the very issues that 
find their way into your notes, and I think I referred to 
them yesterday, remember those 8 points you set out in your 
diary, those 8 points about, which in effect encapsulate 
the problems, the conflict of interest problems, the 
failure to provide the person with independent legal 
representative, the legal representative who is providing 
the legal advice is in fact the person who has provided the 
information. All of those points are encapsulated in your 
diary, are they not? I took you to them yesterday?---No, I 
accept that but that diary entry was made in 2009. 

No, no, I follow that?---This is - yeah. 

I follow that, but then when we go to your diary entry on 
24 July 2006 where you're talking about potential for a 
Royal Commission, it's a lot closer, do you see?---! follow 
that, but I'm not at this meeting that you're referring me 
to - - -

You're not at that meeting if those initials are an Rand 
not a different initial?---! can only tell you again that 
my respectful submission is that's the officer-in-charge, 
Rob Hardy, not me. 

All right. In any event what you say is that you were 
aware of the problems that were going to occur if Ms Gobbo 
turned up?---No. I wasn't part of that planning process. 

In the immediate aftermath you were aware because we 
discussed with you yesterday you were given an update on 
what had occurred, correct?---The first I was aware was 
Sunday afternoon when Sandy White calls me. 
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All right, okay. So effectively what you say is, "Look, I 
have become aware of the matters that are foreshadowed in 
that note at 18:00 hours on the 11111 I've become aware of 
those matters on the 11111'?-- -Correct. 

All right then?---I've become aware of the arrest at 
5 o'clock on Sunday afternoon when Sandy White calls me 
briefly. 

Yes?---And then was subject to 
the following morning on Monday 

• Ill - 11 prehensive debrief 
at 10.15. 

Okay. That's when it becomes apparent to you that what had 
occurred over the weekend was not very, was not a 
particularly clever outcome, if you like, if we can put it 
that way, use those words?---! don't want to use those 
words. I was aware of the decision that had been made by 
the SDU and by the investigators and the reasons for it. 

Yes, okay. And it was an unfortunate outcome, in any 
event, do you agree with that?---They made the decision on 
the best advice they had at the time and so be it. 

When you say the best advice, who do you understand they 
got advice from?---Well, as I addressed yesterday, this was 
a decision in conjunction with the SDU and the 
investigators and some members of command. 

Effectively you say the decision was made that she be 
there, the decision was made as far as you knew in 
consultation between Sandy White, Mr O'Brien, do you agree 
with that much?---Yes. 

Mr Biggin probably?---Again, I don't know what context 
Mr Biggin's role was on that particular day, whether he was 
just running support services because I don't think he had 
line control of us at that stage. 

Which command do you think we would be looking to to say 
they were involved in that decision?---It would be crime. 
It was their job. 

Do you have any names?---Jim O'Brien was there in 
conjunction with Sandy White, and I don't know what other, 
there would probably have to be some other inspectors there 
at that time, it was a pretty significant event for 
Victoria Police. 
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So that decision was made. We understand that subsequently 
arrests occurred of Milad Mokbel and Steve Cvetanovski, or 
Slate Cvetanovski and we understand on both of those 
occasions in effect that decision was repeated because 
Ms Gobbo attended on both of those people and provided them 
with legal advice having been arrested in the wash up of 
the arrest of the other person, do you follow that?---Yes. 

And so insofar as the unfortunate outcome, if we put it 
that way blandly, occurred on thelllll it in effect was 
repeated then when those people were arrested I think on 
the 25th or 26th or thereabouts of April, and again you 
were aware of those arrests at the time?---! was aware of 
the arrests at the time, yes. 

Subsequently I take it became aware that Ms Gobbo had 
advised them at the time of their arrest?---! didn't know 
that at the time, no, that was an operational decision by 
the investigators. 

Perhaps I'll be clearer. In the days afterwards you became 
aware of it?---Yes. 

And that's why ultimately when you make your diary entry on 
24 July 2006 when it's an office meeting, you say all are 
there, there are a number of issues that you particularly 
wanted to make and you noted them in your diary, one of 
which was, "Future of 3838? V", which is versus I assume, 
is that right?---Yes. 

"Royal Commission?" Those were matters that you had in 
mind when you made that note in your diary, that is what 
had occurred in the days following, the 

11111111111 and Would that be fair to 
~. 

Okay. Can I just ask you about that note? Could you go to 
- what diaries are you working on? What have you got in 
front of you there, Mr Black?---I've got my original hard 
copy diaries and I've got my copies of my diaries. 

Okay. Can you go to p.155 of your original diary which is 
Monday, 24 July 2006?---Yes. 

Are there any highlights in that diary?---Yes. 
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There are. And what's highlighted?---Well there's two 
things, there's two things highlighted, the day of the 
week. 

Yes?---That's in yellow and orange I've got "future of 
3838" and then I've got the point above that where I've 
written a red circle around the point immediately above 
that. 

Okay. So it appears what you do is you highlight the days 
of the week, correct?---Yes. 

That's your practice?---Yes. 

And you do that, what, at the time that you make the 
entries or subsequently?---It depends on what the current 
i tern of business is. I've got, I' m, I highlight a lot of 
things in my diaries whether at the time or when I go back 
and do some revision or if I catch up on some paperwork to 
sort of capture the point when I write it. It's just a 
memory memoir. 

It seems if we go through, for example, if you go through 
to p.206?---Yes. 

You've got highlights in your diary there as well?---Yes. 

3838's highlighted?---Yes. 

And down below you've got PI! methodology, is that 
highlighted?---Yes. 

And discuss police response, is that highlighted?---Yes. 

Is that in the same orange highlight?---Yes. 

I can put this up. It's probably better if I put it up on 
the screen. If we go to VPL.0100.0001 .3114. Just whilst 
we're going there. What you said to the Commission 
yesterday was that you discovered that note about the Royal 
Commission on Sunday when you were going through your 
diaries, is that right?---Correct, in preparation for my 
evidence, yes. 

At some stage back in 2014 you were asked to produce before 
IBAC diary entries relevant to your involvement as a 
handler, controller, member of the DSU concerning Ms Gobbo, 
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is that right?---It wasn't quite that specific, no. I was 
just told to - I didn't even understand what I was 
collecting my diaries for or the other people's diaries at 
that time. 

You put together ?---I didn't know until - I 
apologise. We've just got that delay. 

I follow that. You go?---! was just told to go and collect 
the diaries, I had no idea about anything at that stage. 
I had no idea about IBAC, I had no idea even about the 
Comrie report. 

You did that. I think it's been suggested that you put 
together a compilation of your diaries, did you, for the 
purposes of that attendance upon Mr Kellam, is that 
right?---Eventually I did, yes. 

And in order to do that I take it you went through your 
diaries and you highlighted relevant aspects of your diary, 
is that right?---Some was already highlighted, some others 
I highlighted, yes. 

But you knew when you produced that compilation, it was 
159-odd pages, because it was the same compilation you 
produced to the Royal Commission earlier on this year, 
isn't it?---Correct, absolutely. 

When you produced that compilation of your diaries back in, 
let's say it was about 2014?---I think it was about then, 
yeah, when I was told to do that. 

You knew what you were looking for because you were looking 
for anything that was relevant to your handling of 
Ms Gobbo, correct?---Absolutely. 

And for that purpose you went through your diaries and you 
highlighted what appeared to be relevant toMs Gobbo, 
correct?---! think hard copy diaries I had five, they're 
about 400 pages each, that's about 2000 pages of 
handwritten diaries in conjunction with vast more material 
in relation to electronic diaries. 

I follow that?---So I had, I had basically four years of 
material to go through and I did that to the best of my 
ability. 

.24/10/19 8241 
BLACKXXN 

 
 
This document has been redacted for Public Interest Immunity claims made by Victoria Police. 
                                                       These claims are not yet resolved. 



11 : 13 : 27 1 
11 : 13 : 29 2 
11 : 13 : 31 3 
11 : 13 : 31 4 
11 : 13 : 32 5 
11 : 13 : 33 6 
11 : 13 : 37 7 

8 

The one page that you miss out, which happens to be 
highlighted, is the one which you predict a Royal 
Commission. 

MR CHETTLE: Sorry, Commissioner. 

MR WINNEKE: I'm entitled to put the question. 
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9 COMMISSIONER: Yes. 
10 

11 : 13 : 39 11 MR CHETTLE: No, it's not the one page he left out 
12 
13 COMMISSIONER: You'll fix it up, Mr Chettle. 
14 
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MR CHETTLE: He puts a proposition that is wrong. If he 
can't - - -

COMMISSIONER: You have to allow counsel assisting to 
examine. 

MR CHETTLE: I'm not stopping him cross-exam1n1ng, 
Commissioner, but surely I'm entitled to, when he puts a 
proposition that's inaccurate he shouldn't be allow to do 
so. 

COMMISSIONER: If it's inaccurate the witness will say so, 
and if he doesn't you can deal with it in re-examination. 
Yes Mr Winneke. 

MR WINNEKE: How many relevant pages do you believe you 
forget - I withdraw that. How many relevant pages did you 
miss when you put together the compilation of 159 pages for 
the purposes of Mr Kellam's inquiry?---Okay. Look, I 
didn't put the pages together for Mr Kellam's inquiry. I 
had no idea why they wanted the diaries. My Superintendent 
rang me up and told me to collect my diaries, collect other 
people's diaries and deliver them to a particular person, 
which I did. 

Yes?---To the best of my ability I went through 2000 pages 
of diaries I hadn't looked at for some period of time 
and/or my electronic diaries. On Sunday - I mean, you 
know, I had numbered the pages as well to assist whoever 
was looking at these diaries. 

When did you do that?---You'll see the red numbers up the 
top. At the time I was trying to copy all the diaries. On 
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Sunday when I was preparing to give evidence to this 
Commission I diligently went through and rechecked all my 
things, and in fairness to the Commission I found 10 
additional pages that perhaps might be useful. On that 
basis that is it. If you think I was trying to cover 
something up, I'm sorry, but I think in fairness to me and 
the volume and details of materials I've supplied this 
Commission, I think that's a bit of a stretch. 

I'm just putting it to you, Mr Black. The fact is you've 
gone through - ?---That's my answer. 

I understand that. The fact is you've gone through your 
diaries it appears in the lead up to the IBAC investigation 
and that was done, I suggest, with the purpose of 
identifying relevant information which concerned Ms Gobbo 
and the handlers involved with Ms Gobbo, do you accept that 
proposition?---! was satisfied that what I'd copied back in 
2014 was more than substantial, more than adequate. I 
believe I got all my entries in relation to human source 
3838. 

All right. And in preparation for that you went through 
and you highlighted entries, correct?---As I said, some of 
it was highlighted, some of it was highlighted some more, 
absolutely. 

As you went through it - look, you knew what you were doing 
when you were highlighting your diaries. You knew that you 
were going to speak, because you'd received a summons to 
attend before IBAC, hadn't you?---Not when I was copying 
the diaries initially, no. I keep saying, the first I knew 
about IBAC was in November 2014. Never ever knew about it, 
didn't even know about the Comrie report. 

I follow that?---The proposition that I prepared these with 
the knowledge to respond to IBAC is just not accurate. 

Did you know you were going before IBAC?---When? 

In November 2014?---When I got served, when I got served 
with my paperwork, yes, I did. Up until then had no idea 
about it, none whatsoever. 

Of course you didn't. But when you got served with the 
paperwork to attend you knew you had to go before IBAC, 
correct?---Absolutely. 
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Did you compile the notes that you produce before IBAC 
after you got your notice or before you got your 
notice?---After. 

So you get a notice to go before IBAC - had you appeared 
before IBAC before?---No. 

Had you ever appeared in any inquiry or Commission type 
hearing where your conduct was going to be examined?---My 
conduct being examined, no. 

And so you get a summons to appear before IBAC and you 
appear to be a conscientious person, Mr Black, if I may say 
so. I take it you would have approached it with some 
seriousness?---Absolutely. 

And you're asked to produce relevant diaries, is that 
correct?---Yes. 

Were you asked to bring your diaries with you to IBAC?---To 
be honest the instructions we had to attend IBAC were vague 
at best. We weren't - sorry. Part of the summons we got 
delivered was also confidentiality orders so we couldn't 
even talk to anybody about it. 

Mr Black, can you just listen to the question. I don't 
mean to be rude but the question was when you attended 
before IBAC did you take with you your diaries, or were you 
- - - ?---I don't believe I did. 

Were you asked to produce and take with you your diaries or 
were you asked to take with you relevant extracts from your 
diaries?---I'd already copied my diaries. 

Okay. So what happens is - - - ?---I didn't take my 
original hard copy diary with me on the day, no. 

Because you get your summons to attend before IBAC. That 
summons includes, does it, a request to produce relevant 
diaries, does it?---I can't recall specifics of the notice 
but I certainly produced copies of my diaries. 

By the time you were preparing copies of your diaries or 
relevant entries of your diaries, you knew the purpose of 
doing so and that was because you knew you were going to be 
before IBAC and you knew you were going to be examined 
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about your dealings with Ms Gobbo, correct?---Yes. 

And that's what you did, you assiduously went about your 
task going through your diaries and highlighting those 
relevant parts of your diaries which you considered to be 
relevant to the matters that were going to be examined by 
Justice Kellam in the IBAC hearing, correct?---Yes. 

And having done so you then went through and photocopied 
those pages which you considered to be relevant and you put 
them into a bundle of about 159 pages and then you produced 
them, either to your superior officer or someone at IBAC, 
is that right?---Yes. 

If we look at what you produce to IBAC - and you numbered 
those pages and you put numbers at the top of them and, for 
example, if we have a look at - perhaps we can have a look 
at this, Commissioner, COM.0025.0003.0021. Can we put that 
up, please. Just have a look at that document. Do you see 
the numbers on the top of the page, p.1?---Yes. 

Also numbers at the bottom of the page. You say that you 
put numbers on those documents, is that right?---Correct. 
So that, that is, that's a copy, that's the copy of, may I 
suggest that's a copy of the copy that I gave to, provided 
to IBAC, absolutely. I can tell that because I have the 
numbers in the bottom right-hand corner. 

If we go to, if we go through that to p.109. We see there 
that that's a highlight that you've, a page that you've 
highlighted it seems, you have Friday 16 June 2006, it's 
obviously a page that you considered to be relevant because 
- I'm not all together sure why, but in any event you 
considered that to be relevant. Down the bottom there's a 
reference to deploying in the field, et cetera, do you see 
that?---Correct, yes. 

That page is p.109 of whatever diary it was that dealt with 
about mid-2006, correct?---Yes. 

Then the next page is p.110 and that is Thursday, 17 August 
2006, is that right?---Yes. 

Obviously you considered that the information on that page 
was relevant to matters that were being investigated by 
Mr Kellam, or Justice Kellam, correct?---Can I just -
sorry, before I answer that. 
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Yes?---These are, these are raw diary entries that clearly 
haven't been subject to any PI!. As I said these are 
exactly as I copied them out in my diary, so they contain a 
lot of information here that I don't know you should be 
broadcasting. 

No, we're not going to broadcast it. 

MR HOLT: Actually it probably should come off the screens, 
Commissioner, if the Commissioner please, just for that 
reason. 

MR WINNEKE: It's not going to be broadcast. 

COMMISSIONER: Yes, all right. Just put it on my screen 
and the witness's screen, please. 

MR WINNEKE: One assumes that you've gone through your 
diary and you've photocopied pages, correct?---Correct. 

You've gone from 109 to 155. Do you see that, p.109 of 
your diary also happens to be p.109 coincidentally of the 
documents that you'd photocopied, correct?---Yes. 

And the next page is 155, I'm sorry, 197, right?---Correct. 

What you didn't photocopy was a page on which you had 
highlighted an entry and that is the, "Future of 3838? V 
Royal Commission?" You didn't photocopy that page and you 
say, "Well look, I simply missed it"?---Yes. 

So if we can put up on the screen RCMPI.0090.0001 .0001 at 
p.144. Just move down. That's p.155 of the diary and, 
look, on any view that's a very important entry, I suggest 
to you. Do you agree with that?---Well, as I explained 
yesterday, this is a diary note of my - you'll see there, 
"08:55, office meeting all", I haven't even written who all 
is. Then I've done the next point, "Operations and admin 
to". Underneath that it has my issues and I've numbered 
them. 

We can read that. The point is, what I'm saying is at that 
stage on 24 July 2006 you've gone through your diary with a 
view to finding relevant entries for the purposes of 
producing them to Justice Kellam at the IBAC hearing. 
You've found a diary entry which appears to be relevant 
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because it says, "Future of 3838? V Royal Commission?", 
albeit the Royal Commission isn't highlighted. Certainly 
the future of Ms Gobbo is highlighted. And that doesn't 
find its way into the material produced by IBAC. Correct, 
do you agree with that proposition?---It's fortunate I 
write some diary notes. 

It is?---! ask, are you trying to suggest I deliberately 
hid this? 

No, I'm just 
it out of hand. 

- ?---If that's the proposition I reject 
I missed the page. 

I'm giving you the opportunity. It might be thought, okay, 
that you being asked to produce relevant diary entries, you 
highlight that as you go through the process but you don't 
photocopy it to produce. It might be thought that that was 
done deliberately. Now I'm giving you the opportunity and 
you say no, it wasn't deliberate?---! reject that 
accusation out of hand. I missed the page. I went from 
p.109 to 197 amongst 2000 pages. I missed a page. 

Well you didn't - - - ?---Nothing more - can I answer the 
question? 

Yes?---Nothing more, nothing less. I asked you yesterday 
if - I'm surprised you hadn't been provided with the 
minutes of the office meetings because if I'd even 
articulated that issue, that are my issues in my diary, it 
would be reflected in those minutes and that might give 
some more context to it. 

Okay?---So that would be your primary source, that would be 
your primary source of information is to see what the 
office minutes reflected with all due respect. 

Don't worry about that?---I'm not trying to hide anything 
and I reject the allegation out of hand. 

I understand that. When you say you missed it, what you 
say is you didn't miss it when you were going through and 
looking for relevant entries, you missed it when it came to 
photocopying the relevant entries, am I right about 
that?---That probably is the case. 

Okay. Would you agree with this proposition, that whether 
it be before Justice Kellam or be before this Commission, 
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do you accept that that entry doesn't look good for the SDU 
if there's a discussion very early on in the piece on 24 
July 2006 that the conduct of the handling of Ms Gobbo may 
well result in a Royal Commission, do you agree with that 
proposition?---These are my notes. They're my issues. 

We know they're your notes, okay. Can you just address my 
question? Do you agree with this proposition, that a note 
in the diary of a person who is a handler of Ms Gobbo on 24 
July 2006 which suggests that in the mind of a person 
handling and potentially other members of the SDU that 
there's at least a prospect of a Royal Commission into her 
conduct and the SDU's conduct, that doesn't look good for 
the SDU?---I disagree with that. 

You disagree with that, do you?---Yes. 

Okay. What about this proposition, that it doesn't look 
good that the SDU continued to use Ms Gobbo without getting 
legal advice, despite considering that doing so may lead to 
a Royal Commission, does that look good?---Sorry, what part 
of the question - the legal advice or the continued use, 
which part? 

I'll put it again. Do you agree that a note which suggests 
that at least one member of the DSU, you, raised in a 
meeting that the continued use of Ms Gobbo may lead to a 
Royal Commission, firstly, I suggest to you that it would 
have been apparent to you that that, that would not look 
good, that would be, that would be bad?---It's not about 
looking good or being bad, it's just the reality of it all. 
At this stage I have been promoted now, I'm one of the, I'm 
there to support Sandy White as the second controller at 
the unit, we're trying to spread some of the workload and 
running these meetings and perhaps I've been thinking about 
things a bit differently now in my new role. It's my note, 
it's under my issues and as I said we really need to be 
looking at what the office meeting minutes reflect. 

I understand that?---With all due respect they've got 
question marks after these. These are considerations. 

What you considered was the continued use of Ms Gobbo may 
lead to a Royal Commission, that's what you considered back 
on 24 July?---Where does it say - - -

You tell me what that note means?---Where does it say 
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"continued"? 

Future. "Future of Ms Gobbo, 3838? Versus Royal 
Commission?" Tell us what it means?---It's my, my note, my 
thought bubble. I've written here, "Future of 3838? 
Versus Royal Commission?" Nothing more, nothing less. 

What does it mean? What were you considering at the 
time?---What's the future? What's the - you need to go to 
the office meetings minutes, I don't understand the 
context. It's not even in- you'll see, in fairness to my 
notes, my issues, I've numbered them one to seven. 
Obviously as the meeting's gone on I've added "holiday 
change over- we are full" and then I've continued on. The 
new addition point, "Future of 38? Versus Royal 
Commission?" And then I've even written another point 
under that, in relation to new premises and SOPs. So I 
think - - -

Mr Black, we can read that. But what I'm asking you, and 
with respect you're not answering the question, is what 
were you intending to convey or what were you thinking 
about when you wrote those notes?---! think it's pretty 
obvious. It says the future of 38 with a question mark. 
What's the future for 38. It's a question mark. 

No, no - ?---Versus -

Go on?---So I've written a note there, "Future of 3838? 
Versus Royal Commission?" 

So is it one or the other, "We either continue using her, 
or if we do there's likely to be a Royal Commission", is 
that what you intended to convey?---! made a note in my 
diary during an office meeting, "What's the future of 
3838?" 

Why did you write Royal Commission there?---Because that's 
a consideration. 

What was the consideration?---That the actions of us on 
that particular day could be subject to a review and a 
review - I could have written anything in there, back in 
those days, 2006, we're still dealing with the OPI, Royal 
Commission. It's a reality that we dealt with every single 
day, that every one of our decisions or whether we did or 
didn't do something, could be subject to review and we were 
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comfortable about that. We're not scared, we're not trying 
to hide it. 

That's the concern ultimately, but it has been hidden, 
Mr Black?---How? 

Mr Black, you said yesterday, and I asked you this 
question, you haven't written - you say these are matters 
you considered every day with all of the people that you 
dealt with. The fact is, you agree with this proposition, 
you hadn't written in your diary anywhere else in respect 
of any other of your sources, anything about the potential 
for Royal Commissions?---This individual is a bit unique 
and a bit more than other sources, may I say. I keep 
saying I'd like to see what's in the office minutes because 
I think that might add more context. 

Do you know as a matter of fact that there are office 
minutes as opposed to simply Mr Sandy White writing 
comprehensive diary notes or diary entries?---That's a fair 
point. I'm not sure at what point when we started, again 
this is a new office, new SOPs, we were in the process of 
evolving. At some stage there I know Sandy White stopped 
writing the office minutes as such in his diary and we 
started to document them in a stand alone Word document as 
such. I'm not sure 

I think that was in 2007?---I haven't read them for years 
so I don't know what, what evolution we're at at this 
stage, whether we actually had stand alone separate 
minutes. As I discussed yesterday we also quickly migrated 
to electronic diaries too, which assisted our record 
keeping. 

Did you say you don't know what's in Mr Sandy White's 
diaries for 24 July 2006?---Correct, at this point in time, 
no. 

You've never discussed this at all - have you discussed any 
of these matters with Mr White about your appearance before 
the Royal Commission and your attendance and your evidence, 
have you discussed that with him?---In broad details, of 
course I have. 

When?---But not particularly about my evidence, not at all. 

Right. As we understand - - - ?---It would be 
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inappropriate. 

What about, have you had discussions with Mr White about 
the evidence that he gave?---No. 

Have you had access to all of the entries in Mr White's 
diaries?---Over the discovery journey since March 19, yes. 

Right?---At some stage. Did I sit there and read them? 
No, I had other things to be doing. 

Can I ask you to have a look at p.206 of your diary?---Yes. 

This is p.152 of the RCMPI. The previous page we have got 
is p.204, so we're missing p.205?---Yes. 

If we just, can we go back to page - this is p.115 of the 
document that you'd prepared for IBAC and it reflects 22 
August 2006. Have you got access to your diary which has 
p.205?---Yes. 

Page 204 reflects what appears to be an office meeting, on 
duty at the office, and then there's an office meeting with 
Detective Superintendent Biggin, yourself, Mr White, 
Mr Green and another person whose initials I'm not certain 
about there. Do you know who that is?---Yeah, one of the 
intel officers, one of our TIOs. 

Does that meeting go over to the following page of the 
diary?---Yes, it's actually quite a lengthy meeting. It 
starts at ten o'clock and we conclude at 11 .20. 

So the entries on p.205 are merely continuation of the 
discussion in that office meeting and they don't relate to 
Ms Gobbo, the first entry relevant to Ms Gobbo is at p.206, 
correct?---That's correct. These meetings normally are 
broken up into admin and operations and it depends what the 
issues are at the time whether we do operations first or 
administration first. At this instance we start with 
operations at ten o'clock and just work our way through our 
sources. 

I follow that. And then we see at the top of that page 
"3838" with the same orange highlighter that you'd 
highlighted on the other page I dealt with before where 
there's reference to a Royal Commission, do you see 
that?---Sure. 
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This is a discussion about Gobbo. There's a reference to 
the OPP wanting transcripts of the arrest night and there's 
some detail, what we know relates to the person who we 
can't mention, you can see who the name is there, there's 
discussion of the interview which starts at 16:14, starts 
and stops, then there's a reference to legal advice, DNA 
and there's two tapes and then there's a third tape. 
Speaks to legal counsel and details. Some conversation. 
Do you see that?---Yes. 

Then the fourth tape, full confessions and since made a 
considerable number of statements, do you see 
that?---Correct. 

Clearly there's a very detailed discussion going on about 
what the OPP want and there's a very detailed discussion 
going on about the interview process, when Ms Gobbo becomes 
involved, do you see that?---Yes. 

Speak to legal counsel, et cetera, and then there's a note, 
"Plea, do they (OPP) read transcripts to be tendered", do 
you see that?---Yes. 

"Have spoken to O'Brien and Flynn" and then a note about 
Mr Hargreaves, that's Tony Hargreaves, is that 
right?---Yes. 

And he just wants a copy of the statements and not just 
transcripts, do you see that?---Correct. 

Then there's a reference to PI! methodology, do you see 
that?---Yes, sorry, I apologise for the scribbling, it's 
PI! and methodology. 

And methodology, yes. In other words what's being 
discussed is public interest immunity and methodology. So 
would the first part relate to a claim for public interest 
immunity over the identity of the source?---That would be 
one aspect to it, yes. 

And there might be a claim for public interest immunity 
with respect to methodology as well?---Correct. 

Then the next note says this, "Source party to confession", 
do you see that?---Yes. 
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That, you would have to agree, it reflects a discussion 
about Ms Gobbo being a party to the confession, do you 
agree with that?---Yes. 

So in other words, Ms Gobbo having an involvement in the 
confession, right?---Look, it's my note in my diary, I've 
written here, "Source party to confession". 

Yes?---That's 

What do you think that means? What do you think that 
means, Mr Black?---Well, the source was party to the 
confession, she was part of the confession. 

Involved in a legal sense, if you like, perhaps, in the 
confession?---That's, that's fair. 

So effectively what you're saying is, "Look, Gobbo has, her 
role, that is as a human source, is relevant to the 
confession"?---That's fair. 

Now, that is clearly information which would be relevant in 
any proceeding involving the person who we're talking 
about, do you accept that?---Well that's a matter for the 
investigators. 

Yes, that ma~e right but do you accept - look, you 
were in the 111111111 Squad for a long time, you're an 
investigator, you know about investigations and the law 
concerning investigations?---Yes. 

You're a member of the Police Force now and you were a 
member of the Police Force then?---Correct. 

And you know now that that issue that was being discussed 
there at that meeting was very much an issue that finds its 
way into your diaries later on, you know, when we talk 
about those 8 points which I banged on about yesterday, do 
you accept that proposition?---Yes, I do. 

And that's the sort of thing, that sort of conduct on the 
part of Ms Gobbo, and on the part of Victoria Police, could 
well be the sort of conduct which a court would be very 
interested to know about, do you accept that 
proposition?---Yes. 

And that sort of information is the sort of information, if 
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known about, that could lead to a conviction being set 
aside?---That's a possibility, absolutely. 

Indeed, that's one of the things that you set out in your 
SWOT analysis down the track, didn't you?---Yes. 

And at this stage of the game, we're talking about 2006, 
you are aware that Victoria Police, of which you are a 
member, at that time was in possession of information 
which, if disclosed, would be relevant to court proceedings 
and could lead to the setting aside of a conviction?---And 
that's something the investigators were managing. 

And the investigators were aware of that issue 
also?---Absolutely. 

COMMISSIONER: What's the date of this diary entry, please? 

MR WINNEKE: This is 22 August 2006, Commissioner. 

COMMISSIONER: Thank you. 

MR WINNEKE: You know at this stage obviously the person 
who we're talking about had not actually got, hadn't been 
dealt with, had he?---Correct. 

And it may well be that if he had been appraised of this 
information, he might have been inclined to say, "Well 
look, I've had a barrister who's been an informer against 
me. I might be as guilty as sin", as you suggest 
yesterday, but he might also have an opportunity to say, 
"Anything that I've said, any evidence against me in 
relation to what's occurred since September 2005 ought not 
be admissible against me"?---! don't know how to answer 
that. 

Yes or no. Do you know or not?---No, I don't know. 

You don't know. It's something that at least is something 
you were considering, I suggest, at the time of having 
these discussions?---At the end of the day what the 
individual did, that's their decision. 

No, I understand that. But what you do know as an 
experienced investigator who has been trained in the 
legalities of producing legal evidence, admissible 
evidence, there's at least an argument that a person who 
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has been advised by an agent of the police, that is 
Ms Gobbo, to do and say certain things might have an 
argument that evidence against them such as admissions 
might be inadmissible?---! don't know about the forensic 
details of what she was told or not told to say. I am 
aware of the overall obvious thing that she was a 
registered source and she was, there was an operational 
decision made for her to go and speak to that individual, 
that's as far as I can take it. 

I understand that. You were then at that stage a 1111111111 
, you weren't a babe in the woods, you were 

a senior officer, but obviously you were neither a lawyer 
or a very senior officer. Nonetheless you were aware of 
these fairly building block issues about rights to silence, 
rights to independent lawyers and so forth, you were aware 
of those matters, weren't you?---Yes. 

Indeed, you said yesterday with respect to Mr Glow you had 
to really spell it out to him when you were trying to make 
it plain to him the downside of all of this information 
coming out, you had to make it plain to him by setting out 
those issues in dot point form so he could fully understand 
them, correct?---Correct. 

They were issues that you were aware of back in 2006 I 
suggest?---Yes. 

And so were, let's say if Detective Superintendent Biggin 
is in attendance on this day, he would have been aware of 
them as well, wouldn't he?---He was present at the meeting 
and knowing Mr Biggin there was good reason why he attended 
that meeting and he was present for the meeting. 

The reality is you as a newly admitted 
111111111 had at least formed the view yourse 
not you had expressed the view openly in the meeting that 
there was at least the possibility of some sort of judicial 
inquiry, Royal Commission into the conduct of the SDU, that 
was a view that you'd held at around this time, 
correct?---Yes. 

Now, I mentioned the case of Simon Illingworth yesterday, 
he is, as you may or may not know, a person within Victoria 
Police Force who at that stage, if you like, he's been 
called a whistle blower, hasn't he?---Yes. 
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And do you agree that whistle blowing or calling out, 
standing up and being counted if you like, and calling out 
conduct which you regard as otentiall r is not an 
easy thing to do as a within the 
Victorian Police Force?---! have a lot to discuss on this 
very issue but I'll do so in a closed hearing, please. If 
you'd like me to address that point, I have got extensive 
experience in this area but I'm not going to say it in 
open. 

Can we deal with as much as we can in open hearing. I take 
it the point that you make is it's not easy. Do you accept 
the proposition that it's not an easy thing to do in an 
environment, or certainly in the environment that existed 
in 2006, to whistle-blow, to call out conduct which you 
regarded as improper? Do you agree with that?---It still 
remains to this day a difficult thing to do. 

And do you believe that that's a cultural issue within 
Victoria Police Force?---! think it's across, it's across 
most areas of employment, even in the law fraternity. It's 
difficult. 

I understand that. Obviously given our Terms of Reference 
we're focusing on what's going on in Victoria Police Force. 
What you say now is that, insofar as Victoria Police is 
concerned, yes, it's still not an easy thing, you believe, 
to, if you like, inform on your colleagues, or inform on 
more senior members of the Police Force, do you accept that 
proposition?---It's becoming, there's some useful tools and 
protections, but at the end of the day it still requires an 
individual to come forth and make a complaint and that's 
tough on very many issues. 

There's been, I think Mr Biggin said that he regarded the 
conduct, and it may well be, I think he was referring to 
your conduct subsequently in 200819 as being potentially 
career ending conduct, to in effect spill the beans at that 
stage, I think that's the effect of the evidence?---I'm, 
you know, I've been round long enough. I don't lie, I tell 
the truth and if it needs to be called out, it's called 
out. At the end of the day if we're going to relate this 
back to this individual and this diary entry and this 
particular meeting, the SDU, the Purana investigators and 
Victoria Police reached a decision to allow the human 
source to go and talk to this individual. They did that, 
so be it. I don't consider this to be an occasion where 
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anybody has to think that this is any form of corruption or 
make any such complaint because rest assured if I thought 
that was the case I would have done so. And I tell you 
now, Mr Biggin would have done so as well and along with 
Sandy White as well. Was it the greatest decision we made 
at the time? There's alternative views about that. So be 
it, it was made for good sound reasons. 

That may be your view. Ultimately we're here in a Royal 
Commission in the sort of hearing that you were predicting 
back in 2006?---Sure. 

You accept that?---Yes. 

Do you think with the benefit of hindsight that if steps 
were taken back in 2006, to use a sexist expression, man up 
and say, "Look, what has occurred here was wrong" and get 
some legal advice about it, go to the OPP, even go to an 
internal lawyer within Victoria Police Force and say, 
"We're very concerned about what's occurred here, there's 
at least the potential for evidence to be inadmissible, 
convictions to be upset on appeal", we might not have the 
Royal Commission with all of the drama so many years later, 
there might have been an inquiry way back in 2006 and we 
mightn't have the same sort of issues that we're now 
dealing with, do you follow that?---Who are you accusing of 
not manning up? 

Let's put it as a general proposition. It appears that 
back in 2006 there was a view abroad within the SDU, 
certainly as far as you were concerned, that what had 
occurred was wrong, it was a bad decision, the decision 
that had been made was bad, it may be the subject of a 
Commission of inquiry, it may lead to convictions being 
upset, let's get it out in the open and get some legal 
advice about it, sort it out and deal with it way back then 
rather than letting things roll along for years and years. 
As a general proposition, do you think someone, I'm not 
suggesting you, but anyone within that group of people who 
knew, do you accept it would have been far better if at 
that stage steps were taken to regularise the situation, 
get legal advice?---That's a complicated question and I 
don't want to be difficult about it, but at the end of the 
day there was an operational decision to allow 3838 to walk 
in and speak with that individual. Was it the greatest 
decision? Probably not. Was it made for good sound 
reason? Absolutely it was. We were concerned, the 
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decision was made in the fact that if she didn't walk into 
that room she was going to get killed, because we might 
have bought her aT-shirt to let everyone in the world know 
that she's a human source and they would have killed her. 
That was primarily one of the main reasons why that 
decision was made. It wasn't corrupt. Yeah, with the 
benefit of hindsight maybe it wasn't the greatest decision. 
Yeah, maybe we should have got some legal advice but at the 
end of the day we didn't. We weren't acting corruptly and 
we were doing the best we possibly could with the 
sanctioning of Victoria Police and Victoria Police command. 

Can I just deal with that in two parts. The first part is 
what you say is, "We had some real difficulties with 
preventing her from turning up on the night. It was 
predicted it was going to happen but ultimately it happened 
and it was most unfortunate that it happened", do you 
accept that?---Yes. 

You say it couldn't have been prevented. What I want to 
suggest to you is steps could have been put in place to 
prevent it, such as making clear to Ms Gobbo that if she 
did then there would be significant consequences because 
she might have to be exposed, okay? That's one thing that 
could have been done?---Fair point. 

It might have been suggested to her, "Look, if you do this 
you might be perverting the course of justice", that could 
have been done, it could have been said to her?---! just -
pervert the course of justice, in those circumstances at 
that particular point in time, I just don't know about 
that. 

Okay. It might, steps might have been taken, for example -
I mean you people were running ruses all the time, that was 
the way you operated, you could have hidden her, you could 
have said to her, "You're not going to appear, you're not 
going to come along. We're going to have to put in train 
some sort of explanation for you not being there but we're 
going to work it out and you're not going to be there". 
That's the way you people operated, wasn't it?---Correct. 

You could have done something like that?---We could have, 
absolutely. 

But you chose not to?---An operational decision was made on 
that date and that's the part that was done. 
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That's the first part that I wanted to put to you. You say 
she was going to be killed but it didn't happen. I suggest 
to you that's not right, you agree yes, there were other 
things that could have been done but the operational 
decision was made to let her go, okay, you accept 
that?---Yes. 

The next part of the thing is this. Once it's happened 
then you know that something that has occurred may lead to 
a person being improperly convicted or at least convicted 
upon evidence which was not admissible against that person, 
do you accept that?---It's a possibility. 

And then there's an obligation upon members of Victoria 
Police Force to say to themselves, "Look, this person 
should know what occurred because otherwise there's at 
least the possibility that they're going to be improperly 
convicted", do u acce t that?---Well that individual was 
arrested at an 

We know all that?---Yeah, well that's context around the 
proposition you're putting to me. It's not, it's not as 
clear-cut as that. 

With respect it is clear-cut. You know as an investigator, 
an experienced investigator that you are obliged to 
disgorge, Victoria Police is obliged to disgorge relevant 
material, relevant material to enable a person to explore 
appropriate defences that might be available to them, 
correct?---Correct. 

Now you had information that was clearly relevant, you have 
to accept that I take it?---That I had relevant 
information? 

Yes, you did, you had information that Ms Gobbo was a party 
to the confession, all of those things set out in the dot 
points or the points 1 to 8, you had all of that 
information?---Everything that the SDU knew was in 
possession of Operation Purana (indistinct). 

Yes, but you're in the witness box at the moment and I'm 
putting it to you, okay? I'm not putting it to anyone 
else. What I'm sa u're a person, a member of the 
Police Force, a who has responsibilities 
and the obligation et 1cally, do you accept 
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that?---Absolutely I do. 

Did you not consider that it would be reasonable and 
appropriate for this person to know that the evidence that 
was being used against him potentially was 
inadmissible?---! disagree with that. 

Why?---Because I think that's a big step, extrapolating 
what was occurring on that particular day during the arrest 
and deployment of human source 3838 to that level of 
culpability, it's just not - again, with the benefit of 
hindsight we did the best we could with what we had at the 
time. 

Look, you accept that ultimately it's a question for the 
court to determine whether evidence is admissible, 
correct?---Yes. 

It's for the court to determine whether it's appropriate 
for a claim of public interest immunity with respect to the 
identity of a source to be upheld?---Yes. 

And until the court, via the lawyers, have the information, 
no one's going to be able to make the claims, are 
they?---That's fair. 

The police had the information, correct?---Yes. 

And they didn't give it to lawyers?---! don't know what the 
intricacies was with Operation Purana. I can't answer 
that. 

You'd know that it wasn't given to the lawyers because down 
the track, months and months, years later you were still 
trying to ensure that the information didn't get out 
because you didn't want there to be a Royal Commission, I 
suggest?---! don't know what the investigators put on any 
of their notices. 

But you know it was never revealed that Ms Gobbo was a 
human source?---Correct, we did our job. 

And you know that it was never revealed that Ms Gobbo as a 
human source was a party to the confession of the person 
we're talking about?---Correct. 

Can I ask you about some further diary entries. You, on 
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occasions, or you continued to have at least have some 
involvement with Ms Gobbo as a controller throughout 2007; 
is that right?---Yes. Briefly, yes. 

If we get to around April of 2007, you have a meeting -
this is at p.291 of your diary, 24 April 2007?---Yes. 

This is p.178. This is I think p.124 of the material that 
you produced to Justice Kellam?---Yes. 

On this date you were at the Blue Train Cafe at Southbank 
and you were there with Detective Inspector Waddell and 
Mr Anderson; is that right?---Correct. 

You were there for Operation Briars, or in relation to 
that?---Yes. 

And there was a discussion that you had with him and the 
issue that had arisen then was concerning whether or not 
Ms Gobbo might be utilised in that operation, Operation 
Briars; is that right?---Correct. 

And what you say in your note is, "Discussion, general only 
re SDU assistance existing sources and possibility to 
recruit to". Then the note says, "No" -what does it say, 
"No specific re human source but 3838 into their stated 
targets", do you see that?---Yes. 

Now what did you understand Detective Inspector Waddell was 
wanting from the SDU and from you?---Well it was quite 
clear he wanted human source 3838 tasked into two alleged 
corrupt police. 

Did you have a recommendation about that?---Yeah, we 
weren't going to do that. 

Why is that?---Because it wasn't appropriate that we task 
her into that because of quite obvious LPP issues. 

Right. Do you say that what Detective Inspector Waddell 
wanted was that Ms Gobbo in effect act as a lawyer and get 
information from people such as Waters?---It was quite 
clear, wanted to exploit the pre-existing relationship with 
Waters to advance Operation Briars. 

Right. But wasn't what that you were doing with respect to 
Ms Gobbo and her pre-existing relationship with the people 
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we spoke about yesterday?---! think there's a distinction 
between what we had been doing and Briars. Again, as I 
discussed yesterday, whilst we're very motivated to assist 
and solve these jobs, we're also mindful that we need to 
ensure we weren't inadvertently breaching LPP. 

Right. But you didn't - all right. What, was it your 
understanding that Ms Gobbo was a legal advisor to these 
people?---Yes. 

But she was a legal advisor to Mokbel, she was a legal 
advisor to the person that we're not naming, she was a 
legal advisor to Bednarski, she was a legal advisor to 
Milad Mokbel, she was a legal advisor to 
Cvetanovski?---Yes. 

That didn't stop her then?---Can I just address my note? 
Like, it was - so we were briefed in great detail in 
relation to the Briars investigation. We generally 
discussed about the possibility of recruiting some sources 
or identifying any other existing sources we had to advance 
that investigation. We didn't specifically discuss human 
sources, this meeting went on for an hour and five minutes. 

Yes?---! took Mr Anderson, because he was the current 
handler for 3838. 

Yes?---And then towards the end of the meeting it was quite 
clear that Briars knew who our asset was and we basically 
stopped sort of being professionally polite, it was quite 
clear that they wanted to use 3838 against their two 
intended immediate targets. 

Your recommendation was that 3838 be deactivated; is that 
right?---Yeah, we said - I didn't confirm or deny that we 
had anybody that they were referring to on our books, as it 
were, but my recommendation was that she was in the process 
of being deactivated. We'd already had the discussion to 
start winding her down. 

Right?---It certainly, Briars was still alive - sorry, 
Briars was still a live job for us and we'll see what other 
assistance we could give. 

Righto. That discussion about deactivating her had 
commenced way back the previous year, and indeed I think 
she'd been out for a dinner and been presented with a pen 
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back in I think about May of 2006, but she'd continued on 
the books in any event, correct?---Correct. 

Your view was in 2007, April 2007, that at that stage she 
should be deactivated?---Yeah, we'd already reached a 
position in the office where we needed to start developing 
an exit strategy. We had some other management issues put 
in place to assist with that transition. 

Yes?---Mr Biggin was quite helpful in relation to that and 
supportive and that's the process we commenced. 

And yet she wasn't deactivated then despite your 
recommendation that she should be?---No, there was a 
conscious decision, as I outlined yesterday, in relation to 
this development of this caretaker mode to ensure her 
security and protection. 

But you were saying yesterday that she'd been in caretaker 
mode since about May of 2006?---Look, I think I qualified 
my answer by saying it'll be on the log somewhere but there 
was a decision made by Mr Biggin that we commence that, as 
it were, this caretaker mode, to not task her but to look 
after human source 3838. 

Commissioner, I'm not too sure whether I've tendered any of 
these pages as I've been going through but perhaps I 
should. 

COMMISSIONER: Right. Some of them have been tendered. 

MR WINNEKE: All of them are exhibited, Commissioner, but 
if we wish each of the pages individually to be tendered 
perhaps I'll get a list and I'll do it when I get an 
opportunity. 

COMMISSIONER: That would be helpful I think. 

MR WINNEKE: All right. Can I ask you about an entry in 
your diary, you've moved to an electronic diary and if we 
can move to - I think the date is 14 March 2008. Have you 
got that there? It's p.336 of the RCMPis. In fact if we 
go - ?---Sorry, 13th of March? 

It's in fact 14 March 2008. You'll see there's a 9 am 
entry called by Superintendent Biggin and "brief regarding 
the events last night" involving Ms Gobbo?---Sure. 
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Then there's some background there and there's reference to 
a Detective Inspector Andrew Gustke of Purana, there was a 
surveillance unit performing intel on, or surveillance on 
Mr Gatto, do you see that?---Yes. 

MR HOLT: Sorry, Commissioner, there's no reason these 
shouldn't be on the screens now. I realised we haven't 
gone back to the old way, I apologise. 

COMMISSIONER: All right then. Thank you. They can go up 
on all the screens now. 

MR WINNEKE: There was a problem there because one of the 
investigators apparently, or appeared to know that Ms Gobbo 
was a human source; is that right?---Yes. 

And it was an issue, wasn't it, as far as you were 
concerned?---Yes. 

Do you have a recollection of dealing with these matters at 
this time?---Briefly, yeah. I'm just re-reading my diary 
note here, but I vaguely remember the incident, absolutely. 

It was of such concern that once again under the 
"management issues" it was considered that her viability 
was to be considered, and again there was consideration 
being given to deactivating her?---Yeah. This whole 
unfortunate incident flagged a possible security breach 
which would directly impact on her safety and some loose 
association to a particular suspended member. 

Right?---It caused us obviously great concern. 

One of the things that you considered doing again was to 
deactivate her?---Yes. 

Do you believe that there was pressure being brought to 
bear upon you as the handlers, and at this stage you were 
on occasions a controller and one assumes you were on this 
day, was there pressure being brought to bear to continue 
her activation and to continue receiving information from 
her?---There certainly was a considered view that she is 
left under our care, as it were, like I don't think anyone 
would be able to apply pressure to Mr Biggin, but it was 
his decision to put her in this caretaker mode and 
primarily that was to manage her safety, make sure she 
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wasn't murdered. 

Yes?---And afforded some comprehensive record keeping in 
relation to what we did or didn't do. Even though we 
weren't tasking her, we certainly continued her on the 
books and continued to manage her in accordance with our 
standard procedures. So I don't think anyone would have 
been able to apply pressure to Mr Biggin and ultimately 
that was his decision. 

You continued to receive information from her 
though?---Yes. 

Because as we go through - - - ?---Sorry, absolutely. She 
was - you know, contact with her handlers was encouraged to 
continue. We were trying to, as it were, wean her off. 
She was becoming very dependent upon the SDU for a whole 
host of different reasons. But on occasions when she told 
us information, we received it, we documented it and we 
reported it through the channels. 

So obviously her issues about her possible compromise, and 
she has active death threats that Purana are investigating 
and there was concern about consequences if Gatto was to 
learn of the SDU involvement with Ms Gobbo and there's a 
note here which says plausible deniability forMs Gobbo to 
cover the call that was the concern in this 
case"?---Indeed. 

If I then can move on to an entry on page - 7 May 2008. 
This is at p.413 of the RCMPI document, your diaries of 7 
May 2008, have you got those there? Are you a controller 
at this stage?---! don't believe so. 

In any event, there's a discussion about Ms Gobbo and 
apparently someone else or another person; is that 
right?---Yes. 

There's management issues about rotating and so forth. 
Then at the bottom there's an update regarding Ms Gobbo and 
a meeting with Mr Gatto. Was that by reference to the 
earlier entry that I've just been discussing?---Yes. 

And then there's a threat summary from Mr Fox?---Yes, 
that's his name, yep. 

Do you think what's recorded here are what you've been 
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describing as office minutes?---Can I just reference - can 
I just have a look at the top start of the entry? Is this 
an office meeting or - - -

That's the difficulty?---It's all blacked out. Okay, I 
understand. 

Yes?---It looks like an office meeting on what we can see. 
Yeah, again, and particularly this date period I'm pretty 
sure - well we're on electronic diaries so I would expect 
there would be some minutes of this meeting. 

If we go over the page. There's obviously concerns that 
are being expressed about her and then - so we've got -
there's obviously references to Mr Bayeh who's been 
arrested last week but bailed, he's been observed by an off 
duty member. He threatened a member of Purana and 
orchestrated the arrest for those threats last week. They 
hate Ms Gobbo for getting clients to assist police and all 
attacks after significant court dates, do you see 
that?---Yes. 

And Tony Mokbel called Ms Gobbo - called HS and also told 
him about threats?---Yes. 

She's telling him about the threats, that's what that entry 
reflects?---Yeah, quite right. 

And then again there's reference to the exit strategy, 
"terminate Mokbel relationship"?---Yes. 

And Gatto's also been told. Do you know what he's been 
told?---! assume that's about the threats she was 
receiving. He's 

Subsequently Ms Gobbo was tasked, in fact shortly after 
this she started providing information about Mr Gatto, 
didn't she?---! don't know if she was tasked but if that 
had come down from Command, then that's what took place. 
I'm not clear on that. 

She'd been providing information about Mr Gatto I think 
since about 2007, prior to this?---Yes. 

Yeah, okay. Then there's a note, "If contact with Mokbel 
the SDU relationship is over"?---Yes. 
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Then there's a reference to the future of Ms Gobbo, future 
of human source 2958?---Yes. 

So these are possibilities, "New operation, Purana targets. 
New Carlton crew identities". The Carlton crew is 
Mr Gatto's organisation; is that right?---Oh, I really 
don't want to give that any more credibility than I need 
to. 

Right?---There were some criminals in the Carlton area, 
that's as far as I put it. 

There's a new strategy raised by Ms Gobbo, an 
sort of a strategy?---Yes. 

There's talk about that, that could be something that she 
could be used for. Then the Guild Institute could put 
Gatto on their list for referral, so that's part of the 
suggested strategy that Ms Gobbo's come up with, is it?---! 
really don't want to comment on that. 

That'd be methodology?---Yes. 

In any event do you accept that that's something Ms Gobbo 
had suggested?---Yes. 

Then "is the SDU management any better or worse now". What 
do you think that's about?---! think it's in relation to 
the management issues of 3838 I think. We're discussing -
this is headed up future of, as it were, 3838. 

Yes?---So yeah, it's a question, it's a proposition, it's a 
thought. 

All right. These are matters that are being discussed, 
assuming this is an office meeting or at least it's a 
meeting - in all probability it's an office meeting, isn't 
it?---It seems to be, yeah, absolutely. 

So these ideas are being discussed. It says here obviously 
the initial objective with respect to Ms Gobbo was the 
person and the Mokbel family?---Yes. 

And then the next line is the philosophical issue, "Is 
Ms Gobbo acting for clients that she was affected the very 
arrest of"?---Yes. 
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That's what it's about. Again we come back to that issue 
which concerned you back in 2006 and it's obviously still a 
concern?---Well it's been discussed at the office, yes. 

Then there's discussion about her motivation, "Deactivation 
changes the relationship between police and Ms Gobbo", now 
she's eyes and ears. Really effectively what we're saying 
is, "Well, if we deactivate her, the relationship changes. 
At the moment she's eyes and ears. She's providing us with 
information which we can use and is useful"; is that 
right?---Well she's not being tasked by us. 

No, I follow. That's the next line?---Yeah. If we're not 
tasking the individual and the individual is registered 
under our management, then the generic term is that they're 
eyes and ears. 

Yes, I follow?---And that if something comes - I mean 
that's the advantage of this caretaker mode that Mr Biggin 
developed. If something develops then they've got a quite 
efficient, secure way to convey that. It's not necessarily 
just about intelligence, it could be anything, about their 
own personal threats, their own circumstances, anything 
that's impacted on their personal life that has a direct 
impact on our management of that individual. 

I follow that?---So that's the term eyes and ears. 

All right, I follow that. But obviously includes getting 
information which is of use to the police as well?---We're 
not tasking the source so that's not - we're not being 
tricky about it. They're either tasked or they're not. 

I follow that. And that's reflected in your entry?---Yes. 

If I can briefly move on. Then we get to RCMPI document 
p.476. That's an entry for 3 July 2008. This is one of 
the documents that you provided to Mr Kellam, p.127 of that 
document, and it's - - - ?---Yes. 

There's an entry which concerns - there's an email, a 
message from Mr Biggin regarding Operation Petra and there 
are some sensitive matters there raised in an email from 
Brent Fisher, correct?---Yes. 

And they concern a number of people whose names are set out 
on the following page?---Yes. 
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MR HOLT: Sorry, Commissioner, if these are the ones that 
are also from the IBAC hearing, which I think they are, 
could they not go on the screen, just because they haven't 
been reviewed for any purpose and I can imagine seeing some 
very sensitive material. I'll indicate, it's that set of 
documents we're concerned about. 

COMMISSIONER: It can just be on the witness's screen and 
my screen then. Are you content with that, Mr Winneke? 

MR WINNEKE: Yes. 

MR HOLT: Thank you. 

MR WINNEKE: If we go over the page. There's a number of 
issues there. Do they all concern Ms Gobbo's 
involvement?---I'm just reading that now. Yeah, it - yes. 

The note is that there's some intelligence that mentions 
that a particular person has llllkilograms of 111111111 
-· .kilograms of-· The intel is-crarecr12 
June and the SDU is to risk assess that intel being made 
public and any security compromise issues for the source 
who generated that particular intelligence. Informed guess 
is that Ms Gobbo forwarded the intelligence. Do you 
understand what that's about?---Yes. 

Are you able to tell us what that's about?---We're open, 
aren't we? 

COMMISSIONER: Yes, we are. 

MR WINNEKE: In such a way that doesn't - - - ?---I 
understand. 

Yes?---! understand. So I was called by Superintendent 
Biggin to attend his office and we had an inadvertent 
breach in relation to a document and part of that document 
contained intelligence that we had provided and that we had 
sourced from human source 3838. Now it wasn't as clear as 
what I just explained but we knew the origin of that 
information and we were fearful that that may cause a 
direct threat of her life if we didn't risk assess it. 
Hence that's essentially what that entry relates to. So I 
was risk assessing that for Superintendent Biggin once he 
identified that Petra had this issue. 

. 24 I 1 0 I 19 8269 
BLACKXXN 

 
 
This document has been redacted for Public Interest Immunity claims made by Victoria Police. 
                                                       These claims are not yet resolved. 



1 
12 : 31 : 00 2 
12 : 31 : 03 3 

4 
12 : 31 : 11 5 
12 : 31 : 15 6 
12 : 31 : 16 7 
12 : 31 : 16 8 
12 : 31 : 20 9 

10 
12 : 31 : 21 11 
12 : 31 : 24 12 

13 
12 : 31 : 26 14 
12 : 31 : 32 15 

16 
12 : 31 : 37 17 

18 
12 : 31 : 52 19 
12 : 31 : 57 20 
12 : 32 : 04 21 
12 : 32 : 11 22 
12 : 32 : 15 23 

24 
12 : 32 : 16 25 
12 : 32 : 26 26 
12 : 32 : 29 27 
12 : 32 : 33 28 
12 : 32 : 36 29 

30 
12 : 32 : 37 31 
12 : 32 : 44 32 
12 : 32 : 52 33 
12 : 32 : 56 34 

35 
12 : 33 : 02 36 

37 
12 : 33 : 04 38 
12 : 33 : 15 39 
12 : 33 : 18 40 
12 : 33 : 25 41 
12 : 33 : 29 42 
12 : 33 : 37 43 
12 : 33 : 43 44 
12 : 33 : 52 45 
12 : 33 : 54 46 
12 : 33 : 59 47 

VPL.0018.0006.07 47 

Issue number 4 was the prospect of tasking Ms Gobbo to a 
person by the name of Hafner, do you see that?---Yes. 

The question was the last contact between Hafner and 
Ms Gobbo?---Yes. 

And "Has she ever acted for Hafner?", do you see 
that?---Yes. 

And the SDU to discuss and consider issues at the next 
office meeting?---Yes. 

Do you know what happened with respect to that issue?---I 
don't recall, no. I don't think it was explored. 

She was being tasked at that stage?---No. 

Right?---Now, we did get - from time to time we got 
directions from Command to do certain things with the 
source, and we did. There's an entry, I think the source 
management log directs, I think there's a direction from 
Mr Overland. 

Yes?---That we assisted, I think it was Petra - it's in the 
source management log, I apologise, I can't recall what 
page of that it relates to, but there were some entries 
that we were given some clear instructions and we did as we 
were told. 

Okay. In any event, if we go to p.133 of your diary, that 
the red one, RCMPI 519. That appears to be an attendance, 
"Attended scheduled meeting with Petra Task Force", do you 
see that?---Yes. 

COMMISSIONER: What date is this? 

MR WINNEKE: This is on 22 July 2008 and there's an entry 
which is a follow-up entry in relation to that, do you see 
that? At the bottom of the page and going over to the next 
page, there's reference toMs Gobbo, who's identity had 
been revealed to Mr Fisher, and Petra wants her tasked back 
to Danny Hafner, not to be tasked but to continue SDU duty 
of care. Will not task her and Command have sanctioned 
that decision. Do you see that?---Correct. Petra Task 
Force has their own steering committee and their own legal 
team and a set of investigators and if that's what they 
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wanted, that's what we tried to achieve for them. 

Okay, all right then. If we can just move forward now to a 
period around the early December of 2008. If we go to an 
entry - just excuse me - in your diary. In fact just 
before I get there. Perhaps if we go to your diary, 
RCMPI.0090.0001 .0001 at p.607, which is at p.135 of the 
document that you produced to Mr Kellam. Can you go to 
that one. Do you see that?---! see that, yes. 

You're on duty and I think we're not allowed to mention the 
name of the location?---Sure. 

Then there's a meeting at 7.30 in the morning with 
Superintendent Biggin, Mr White and Mr Smith?---Yes. 

Regarding strategic planning for the future of Ms Gobbo and 
implications of Ms Gobbo assisting Purana possibly as a 
witness?---Sorry, it's Petra. 

Sorry, I meant to say Petra, not Purana. I just want to -
so you were at that location, correct?---Yes. 

Just by way of background, you were aware at that stage 
that there were a couple of investigators at Petra who were 
very keen to have Ms Gobbo provide some information 
concerning Paul Dale?---Yes. 

Or get some information?---Yes. 

Around the latter part of November and the early part of 
December there was discussion about the possibility of 
Ms Gobbo being wired to go and speak to Dale?---Yes. 

And indeed those ideas had been floated for quite some time 
before this?---Indeed. 

That was a constant source of concern, I take it, for 
you?---Yes. 

Because of the implications, the obvious implications which 
obviously you set out in fairly clear terms in your diary, 
do you accept that?---Yes. 

Indeed, if we go to the source management log on 25 
November 2008, there's an entry on that day - in fact 
before that. Indeed, if you go to the - just excuse me. 
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If we go to p.55 of that document. On 17 November there's 
an entry which reflects the fact that O'Connell had had a 
meeting with Ms Gobbo and asked her some questions and 
what's set out there is a summary of the meeting with 
Ms Gobbo, that she was well aware of the corrupt 
relationship between Williams and Dale, she admitted that 
she was a conduit between Williams and Dale prior to the 
murders. Not known how long this was occurring. She 
admits that the mobiles, Koskarev and Valersky were most 
likely to have been used by her. They were provided to her 
to Mr Ahmed, et cetera, do you see that? Right?---Yes. 

Discussions with Dale centred on what Ahmed and Haynes were 
saying about Operation Gallop, what was being said about 
the leaked IRs and so forth. Over the page. Investigators 
feeling was Ms Gobbo was being used by Dale, Williams and 
also likely by Ahmed for an alibi. There's a reference to 
the effect that she doesn't dispute arranged a significant 
meeting on 6 May 2008 at Watergardens, but can't recall it. 
Investigators put to her that after the murder would have 
realised significance, therefore would remember, but she 
says she couldn't due to her stroke, couldn't necessarily 
due to her stroke, and there's more information there in 
the ICR, do you see that?---Yes. 

So they were in effect closing in on Ms Gobbo. They wanted 
to use her and they wanted to - when I say closing in, 
perhaps I should be clear about that rather than using that 
expression. At the end of the discussion it's pretty clear 
that they grilled her quite closely, do you accept 
that?---Yeah, I think the investigators at Petra did a good 
job. 

She wants to talk about a statement?---Yes. 

She started to volunteer information. Says that she has to 
defend these blokes day in, day out, they're morally 
bankrupt, she's acted in a legally correct manner and that 
her head is so full of information. She asked Cameron 
Davey, "If that was you, what you would do?" He said he 
didn't know. She said go to the police. Mr O'Connell 's 
comment is that these guys aren't stupid, they're wondering 
who Ms Gobbo is talking to, et cetera. O'Connell still 
states that they have no direct knowledge of the awareness 
Ms Gobbo is a source but they're not stupid, so it's 
apparent that they do know, correct?---Yeah, like they're 
efficient investigators, I'm sure they would have got some 
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inkling which clearly is reflected on the log. 

The investigators tried to console her after crying re 
being in an honourable profession. She went off her head 
and totally bagged this idea. "Ideally make statement. 
Dale benefits the most, Williams said Dale approached him 
and said they're slow, will you do it? Important to show 
corrupt relationship." She's prepared to make a statement 
but wants to think about it and she can give details that 
Williams and Dale were in a corrupt relationship, 
okay?---Yes. 

That obviously was a matter of some concern. The next 
entry, or the entry on the 25th - do you accept that, that 
is Ms Gobbo making a statement, do you agree with 
that?---Yes. 

On 25 November there's an entry to the effect that Petra 
steering committee, Overland, Moloney, Cornelius and the 
OPI Director Ashton all aware of Ms Gobbo's identity and 
role?---Yes. 

Then there's an entry on 30 November, "Update from 
Mr Smith. Dale text, he wants to catch up" and then 
there's a discussion about the viability of Ms Gobbo 
carrying a recorder for the meeting with Dale and it was 
decided against that "as she has stated she doesn't want to 
be a witness". There are also risk issues with respect to 
Paul Dale paranoia, I assume that's what that's 
about?---Yes. 

Then there's another update. She's to go back to Petra. 
May get asked to recall the meeting with Mr Dale and she 
again restates she doesn't want to be a witness. Another 
entry on 3 December. She's had a meeting with Petra. They 
are pushing for her to record a meeting with Dale and to 
make a statement re previous information. They discuss her 
becoming a witness and the belief that the evidence about 
Dale is very important and there's a discussion about the 
options for management OFG. What's that mean, or is that 
just a misspelling?---! think it's a misspelling. 

Management of her if she has evidentiary meeting with 
Dale?---Yes. 

And then is it your understanding that what occurs is, see, 
on the - Mr Smith has an entry in his diary that he has 
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just come from a meeting with Petra on 3 December and he 
sets out some information which in effect reflects that 
which is set out in the source management log. Is it your 
understanding that there was discussion within the SDU 
about the possibility that Ms Gobbo was going to be - I 
withdraw that. These were issues which were relevant and 
which were being discussed amongst the SDU members at the 
time when you're down having that out of office meeting 
away from the city; is that right?---No. We were involved 
in a training program which I had not too much contact at 
that time with Mr White and Mr White was attending various 
meetings over and above the training, so it was quite - we 
were at various places at various times all throughout the 
weeks leading up to and this week in particular. 

Yes?---So we weren't in an office environment, hadn't been 
for several weeks. 

I follow that. Were you with Mr White?---Oh, on brief 
occasions, yes, but we were entrenched in this training 
program. 

All right. But insofar as these issues were coming up 
around Ms Gobbo and Petra's desire to use her, he had the 
ability to speak to you and discuss these issues with you 
if he wanted to?---Yes, and ultimately that was part of the 
reason for having the meeting on that Friday, the 5th of 
December. 

Yes?---The one that Mr Biggin was present at. 

Yes. The way in which it develops is that after the 
meeting at Purana he speaks to Mr White. Mr White 
instructs him to make a point form list of criteria to be 
covered in a meeting that Mr White's to have with 
Mr Overland on 4 December, right?---Yep. 

Do you think you might have been aware that that was going 
on at the time? Mr Overland was in the vicinity, he was 
down there with you wasn't he, or in the 
vicinity?---Yes. 

Were you aware that Mr White was going to go and have a 
discussion with him about the utilisation of Ms Gobbo in 
the manner that had been suggested?---No. 

In any event, he had been - that is Mr Smith had been 
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advised to put a point form list of criteria to be 
discussed with Mr Overland, between he and Mr White. I 
take it you subsequently did become aware of that point 
form list to be discussed?---No, I didn't. This is a 
conversation between - that was, I assume Mr Biggin knew 
about this as well, but that was Sandy White and obviously 
Mr Overland. 

Perhaps if we can go to the ICRs for 4 December 2008. 
Maybe if we go back to - that'll do. It's at p.756. 
What's occurred is that there's to be a meeting on the 
morning of 5 December 2008, do you accept that?---Yes. 

And the meeting was obviously going to be concerning 
Ms Gobbo and what was going to happen with her, do you 
accept that?---Yes. 

Mr Smith had been requested to put together a list of 
matters in point form for the purposes of discussion with 
Mr Overland and it appears that that discussion may have 
occurred on 4 December but in any event - in fact if we go 
back to p.754, at 19:00 there's a source management entry, 
"Discussed Paul Dale Operation Petra issue with controller 
Mr White from DC Overland. Wants Ms Gobbo as a witness, to 
discuss with Superintendent Biggin tomorrow in the 
morning". Mr Smith had been asked to put together a point 
form list for the purposes of discussion. Then if we go to 
the entry at 7.20 in the morning on 5 December, we see a 
number of points that had been prepared by Mr Smith and 
they're recorded as, against the 7.20 time slot, do you see 
that?---Sure. 

What they suggest is that "advised Mr White re risks if 
Gobbo becomes involved as a witness in Operation Petra". 
What they say is, "Risk of exposure as a source, risk to 
organisation if long-term source role is exposed, 
perception of source passing on privileged information to 
the police using same, risk of Royal Commission into source 
handling by SDU as a result of the above", and the fourth 
point is threat to Ms Gobbo's personal safety if she gives 
evidence. What we see there is a further reference to this 
risk of a Royal Commission into source handling. Now 
that's something that Mr Smith, it seems, has put into his 
point form analysis for discussion on 5 December, do you 
see that?---Yes. 

It may well be that there were other members of the SDU, 
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certainly Mr Smith, who were also aware of this concern of 
the risk of the Royal Commission, do you accept 
that?---Yes. 

And it may well be that it wasn't just you who had - to 
whom it had occurred that there might be this sort of Royal 
Commission or sort of inquiry into source handling, do you 
accept that?---Yes. 

And it may well be that this was discussed, albeit there 
wasn't a great deal of time between 7.20 and 7.30, it may 
well have been discussed amongst the people who were in 
attendance at this meeting?---Yes. 

In any event, that was the view that you took at the time, 
that there was a risk of a close analysis of the handling 
by the SDU, that was something which was a risk, wasn't 
it?---Yes. 

And you'd been aware of that for some years now, at least 
since the time that you entered it into your diary on 24 
July 2006?---0h, I think that was a realistic proposition 
from the moment we started the pilot back in November 2004, 
the very nature of what we did would ultimately be reviewed 
one day. 

Yes?---It's just the nature of the business and we accepted 
that. 

But you hadn't written it about anyone else, it had been 
written about Ms Gobbo. Putting aside the commencement of 
the pilot, it was an entry against her name because of 
particular concerns that you had in relation to her 
particular use?---You need to go back to even the formation 
of the pilot. 

Yeah, well I'm not going to go back there?---Sorry, can I 
answer the 

Yes?---Sorry. We were selected to commence this pilot with 
Sandy White because of our investigative background. 

Yep. One of your previous roles, and I know there might be 
some issues about this, but you had been involved in the 
investigation of the Silk and Miller murders?---Yes. 

And obviously in more recent times there's been 
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investigation about what had occurred in the preparation of 
the briefs at that time?---Yes. 

And in particular there'd been a number of issues with 
respect to the preparation of statements, you're aware of 
those issues I take it at least generally?---Yes. 

Were you aware of the practice which was going on back then 
in 2000, thereabouts, in the statement preparation 
process?---No, that wasn't my area. 

I take it you were aware - did you make a statement at that 
time?---For Lorimer? 

Yes?---! expect so. 

Did you know of the - when did you first become aware of 
the issues arising which concerned Lorimer?---When I read 
about it in the paper. 

Was it surprising to you that there was this practice of 
altering or making new statements and signing them at a 
later date to include new and different 
information?---Surprise wouldn't be a strong enough word. 

The practices, it appears, that were going on at Lorimer 
within the Victoria Police were 

MR HOLT: Excuse me, Commissioner. Can I just approach? 

MR WINNEKE: There is an IBAC inquiry going on which very 
much concerns the sort of conduct of Victoria Police with 
the preparation of briefs at the time, that is around 2000, 
in a unit where you were then a member, you understand 
that?---Yes. 

That included omitting a witness's description of an 
offender, omitting information which is contradicted by 
other evidence or is otherwise perceived by police to be 
unreliable, that is from statements, do you accept that's 
one of the things that was going on at the time?---! don't 
think we've had the final report, have we? With all due 
respect. 

I don't know whether we do or not?---And these are 
allegations. 
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These are allegations?---Yep. I really don't want to 
comment on it. 

Okay. Do you know whether there was issues of speaking to 
witnesses to fix up inconsistencies in the evidence and not 
disclosing that intervention?---Knew nothing about that. 

Did you know there was a practice at least, something which 
occurred which involved taking replacement statements 
instead of supplying a supplementary statement?---No, 
nothing about it. 

And signing a back-dated statement?---No, that's just 
outrageous. I know nothing about it. 

Was there a practise of signing acknowledgements in the 
absence of the statement maker, is that something which 
went on when you were in Lorimer?---Not in my time and not 
under my supervision. 

And making supposed contemporaneous notes well after the 
fact, was that something that was the practice?---Never. 
Not in my time. 

Was there a practise of failing to disclose information 
which may assist the defence?---Not in my time. 

Not something that you would do?---Not to my knowledge. 
Not at all . 

You wouldn't countenance such behaviour, would you?---No. 
And nor would Mr Sheridan, who was in charge of the Unit. 

Was it discussed that if the target Paul Dale I'm going 
back to the matters that were being discussed on 5 December 
- was it discussed that if Mr Dale is charged he will call 
Ms Gobbo as legal counsel in the first instance, was that 
something that was discussed?---Not in my presence. 

You were at the meeting, weren't you, on the morning of 5 
December?---Yes. 

That issue there was very much an issue which you and your 
colleagues had contended with during the course of your 
time at the SDU, wasn't it?---No. 

Well if a particular target is charged, say, for example, 
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the person who we can't name, the likelihood is that that 
person would call Ms Gobbo in the first instance. That's 
what occurred in the case that we've been discussing?---It 
wasn't discussed in my presence. 

Right. And was it discussed that Mr Dale, the target, 
would claim that all previous conversations with Ms Gobbo 
were privileged?---That wasn't discussed in my presence. I 
wasn't at those meetings. 

I suggest you were at the meeting on 5 December 2008?---If 
you think that we had forensic discussions about how we 
were going to assist or not assist Petra Task Force at that 
location in public, then that's a mistake. 

I'm simply - - -?---Broad brush themes were discussed, 
primarily what would happen if 3838 made a statement. It 
was a meeting over breakfast. 

I follow that. But ultimately you sat down for some 
considerable time and put together what's known as a SWOT 
analysis, correct?---Yes, I did. 

And you had a meeting and you had discussions with other 
members of your Unit?---Yeah, that was three weeks after 
the meeting on 5 December with all due respect. 

One of the people who were present and who you had 
discussions with was Mr Smith, right?---Yes. 

And you would have had access to, I suggest, the source 
management log, the ICRs, when you came to put your SWOT 
analysis together?---We were operating under some pretty 
tight timeframes and we needed to report back at the 
direction of Superintendent Biggin within a matter of, you 
know, several hours upon commencing the works. So we 
didn't have the opportunity to sit there and forensically 
analyse every piece of information that we had -

I'm not suggesting - ?--- - - - available to us. That 
was the purpose of having the meeting. 

I follow that. I'm not suggesting it was all forensically 
analysed and discussed on 5 December. Clearly you couldn't 
have had time to do that. But the point forms that were 
set out here were set out I think in the ICRs, if not the 
SMLs, but certainly the ICRs, and they're points which had 
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occurred to Mr Smith at the very least and he had forwarded 
those, it seems, to Mr White because he'd been asked to do 
that, and so these views had been sent around at least 
between White and Smith and you then have a meeting on 5 
December 2008 and there's going to be at least some 
discussion between 5 December and the time that you put the 
SWOT analysis together, surely?---So in, some things in 
context. We're involved in a training program. 

Yes?---We are spread all over the State. There are all 
sorts of other jobs going on at this particular time. I'd 
like to see the - when was this contact report submitted 
and when was it checked by - like just some context. I 
accept the fact - I don't dispute what you say in relation 
to what I'm reading in front of us but when was that done? 

Mr Black, you've been going through - - - ?---What's the 
date on the bottom of the contact report if I may? 

You've been going through all of these materials for quite 
some time. You say you don't know, you haven't read any of 
these things. 

MR CHETTLE: Commissioner, that's unfair, with respect. 
All he asked for was, "Can I please see the date of the 
document?" Surely that's not an unreasonable request. 

MR WINNEKE: 21 December 2008, p.769. If you go to it. 
This document has been put together pretty swiftly, do you 
accept that?---! don't know when it actually went to, when 
it was checked, when it was loaded on to our system by the 
controller. 

You - - - ?---This may have been sitting in someone's - I 
mean it's only nine days. I don't know when this contact 
report was even made public to the office, like - - -

That's one of the problems we have, because it's pretty 
difficult to determine with some of these records?---Well 
the metadata is attached to all these things. It's 
discoverable if that was of any assistance. But at this 
stage I'm just trying to figure out these 

There's probably - - - ?---Mr Smith. 

Okay?---You're saying this was available. It may not have 
been available to us. I don't know when this document was 
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actually finished or uploaded on to our system so we all 
had access to it, in fairness. 

In any event, if the metadata suggests that the document, 
even if that metadata is available, if it suggests the 
document was up loaded by 31 December then you would accept 
that you would have had access to it, correct?---Yeah, but 
it's compiled by Mr Smith. It then goes to Sandy White. 
It's got to get then uploaded generally by, at that 
particular time with the systems we were operating in, by 
our TIOs. 

All right, but the fact is - - -?---So I don't know 
when - - -

The fact is - - - ?---I'm not trying to be difficult, I'm 
trying to put a time stamp on when this would have become 
live and available to us. 

All right. But the fact is you've got access to Mr Smith, 
you're talking amongst yourselves about these issues, do 
you accept that? Do you accept that?---No, not 
necessarily. 

Did you have a meeting or at least a telephone discussion 
with Mr Smith on 30 December?---Thank you, and that's where 
I was going with it. We had this meeting with Mr Overland 
on 5 December. I then get a request from Superintendent 
Biggin late in the evening on the 30th. We had to compile 
a risk assessment by, I think it was lunchtime, something, 
the following day, on the 31st. 

Yes?---And as a matter of diligence I called Mr Sandy White 
because he wasn't available on that particular day. 

All right. Do you think you might have said to Mr Smith, 
"I've got to do this", and do you think Mr Smith might have 
said, "Well I've had a good start it, I can shoot you what 
I've done". Do you think that might have been said, 
something like that?---No. 

No. Do you say it didn't happen or - - - ?---I wasn't 
aware of this contact report. 

On 30 December at 5.30 you were called by Superintendent 
Biggin, you were briefed, you briefed the SDU of Command's 
decision to request a statement from Ms Gobbo?---No, that's 
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not right. 

Well Biggin did?---Thank you. Mr Biggin called me at 17:30 
hours and those dot points are what he told me. 

He told you that Moloney had passed a message on to the 
Superintendent who was now on an RD?---Yeah, on a rest day. 

"Petra Task Force continues with the investigation into the 
murder of the Hodsons. Biggin wants the SDU to consider 
implications if and when Ms Gobbo makes a statement. the 
SDU to brief Superintendent in the pm tomorrow with 
foreseen implications", right?---Correct. 

So you set up a conference at 8.25 that evening regarding 
Gobbo and you called Mr Richards, Green and Smith, 
right?---Correct. 

And you brief them of the decision and you plan an SDU 
meeting for the a.m. the next morning?---Correct. 

Then you list a summary of the brief discussion and the 
obvious underlined implications, "What's the objective of 
this process? Have source make a statement and become a 
Crown witness", so that's the objective. "Implications for 
Ms Gobbo, for the SDU, for Petra, for VicPol and victims, 
Hodsons times two". Then, "The SDU ongoing viability, SOP 
methodology, trade craft and exposure of staff, Ms Gobbo's 
credibility and prior inconsistent statements, call for the 
recordings". In other words, there will be a call for 
recordings of discussions between members of the SDU and 
Gobbo, correct?---Correct. 

And that'll be done to prove prior inconsistent 
statements?---That's a consideration, absolutely. 

Relevant to any matters that would be the subject of the 
statement?---Correct. 

Or matters going to her credit?---Correct. 

So clearly if there were those sorts of recordings 
available where she says that effectively she's discarded 
any ethics and all of those sorts of things, that would be 
troubling, wouldn't it?---Yes. 

And then there's a question of her medication problems. 

.24/10/19 8282 
BLACKXXN 

 
 
This document has been redacted for Public Interest Immunity claims made by Victoria Police. 
                                                       These claims are not yet resolved. 



13 : 10 : 25 1 
13 : 10 : 32 2 
13 : 10 : 37 3 
13 : 10 : 42 4 
13 : 10 : 47 5 
13 : 10 : 51 6 
13 : 10 : 56 7 

8 
13 : 10 : 58 9 
13 : 11 : 01 10 
13 : 11 : 03 11 

12 
13 : 11 : 05 13 

14 
13 : 11 : 08 15 
13 : 11 : 15 16 
13 : 11 : 23 17 
13 : 11 : 28 18 
13 : 11 : 33 19 
13 : 11 : 37 20 
13 : 11 : 42 21 
13 : 11 : 46 22 
13 : 11 : 46 23 

24 
13 : 11 : 51 25 
13 : 11 : 54 26 
13 : 11 : 56 27 
13 : 12 : 26 28 
13 : 12 : 26 29 
13 : 12 : 28 30 

31 
32 
33 
34 
35 
36 
37 
38 
39 
40 
41 
42 
43 
44 
45 
46 
47 

VPL.0018.0006.0760 

Finally down - further down, "Source identity becomes 
known. Professional employment would be ended. Source's 
role with VicPol, issues with existing court cases". 
Clearly that's a reference to potential for existing court 
cases to be impacted by this information, or at least the 
knowledge that Ms Gobbo had been in an informer and also a 
lawyer for some of these people, correct?---Yes. 

And there were appeal issues with former clients regarding 
unsafe verdicts, that was something that occurred to 
you?---Possibly, yes. 

That was discussed amongst you?---Yes. 

And indeed if we go back to the document that Mr Smith 
prepared, he says down the bottom, keep moving, "Jeopardise 
future prosecutions if her role is divulged, mostly Mokbel 
and spin offs. Leave previous convictions open to being 
unsafe because of Ms Gobbo's involvement and privilege", do 
you see that?---Yes. Commissioner, may I - I apologise, am 
I able to take just a five minute break? 

COMMISSIONER: Sure?---Before we get into the rest - - -

Yes, it's been a long session. We had a late start so we 
sat through. We'll take the lunch break now and we'll 
resume at 2 o'clock. 

<(THE WITNESS WITHDREW) 

LUNCHEON ADJOURNMENT 
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UPON RESUMING AT 2.06 PM: 

COMMISSIONER: Just in terms of, I've been asked about 
whether the next witness will be needed today. I think, 
Mr Winneke, you indicated to me you're going to be about 
another half hour or so. 

MR WINNEKE: Yes, I'd say so. I think then there are some 
questions down the Bar table. I think Mr Chettle has 
probably, I suspect from what I gather, we'll see out the 
day. 

COMMISSIONER: Run down. Mr Collinson? 

MR COLLINSON: About 15 minutes, Commissioner. 

MR HOLT: About 20 minutes, Commissioner. 

COMMISSIONER: Mr Chettle? 

MR CHETTLE: Could be an hour plus, Commissioner. 

COMMISSIONER: Right. So it seems unlikely we'll get to 
Mr Buick today, doesn't it? 

MR WINNEKE: I think it's unlikely, Commissioner, given 
we've go to deal with that other matter. 

COMMISSIONER: That other matter might have to be dealt 
with tomorrow because we've got to get Mr Otter back for 
that. 

33 MR WINNEKE: Yes, that's right. I suspect - - -
34 

14 : 07 : 35 35 
36 
37 
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14 : 07 : 39 39 
14 : 07 : 40 40 
14 : 07 : 43 41 

42 
14 : 07 : 43 43 
14 : 07 : 43 44 
14 : 07 : 44 45 
14 : 07 : 47 46 
14 : 07 : 47 47 

COMMISSIONER: We said we'd let him know when the matter -

MR WINNEKE: I think that the reality is -

MR HOLT: Apparently he can be here within sort of 15 
minutes' notice, Commissioner. 

COMMISSIONER: All right. We'll see how we go. 

MR WINNEKE: We'll do the open evidence first. 

COMMISSIONER: We'll see where we're at by that time, okay. 
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MR WINNEKE: Are you there, Mr Black? 

COMMISSIONER: But Mr Buick won't be needed today. Yes, 
Mr Black is here. 

<OFFICER BLACK, recalled: 

COMMISSIONER: Mr Black, can you hear me?---Yes, I can. 

Thank you. 

MR WINNEKE: I was just asking you about the notes, the dot 
point notes that seem to have come out of the conference 
that you had with your colleagues on the evening of 30 
December 2008?---Yes. 

And obviously, as I went through those comments, there was 
an indication that there could well be issues with existing 
court cases, appeal issues with former clients regarding 
unsafe verdicts and I asked you, I suggested to you that a 
number of the issues that were set out in your dot points 
were reflected in the points that Mr Smith had put together 
for the purposes of his document on 5 December and in 
particular he had spoken about jeopardised future 
prosecutions if HS role divulged, mostly Mokbel and 
spin-offs and leave previous convictions open to the same, 
being unsafe because of the involvement and privilege, do 
you accept that?---The dot point I have recorded in my 
diary was issues with existing court cases, that's where, 
that's as high I put that on my diary note. 

You haven't because you went further and you said, "Appeal 
issues with former clients re unsafe verdicts"?---Sure. 

That's a conversation, and those points have come out of 
your discussion with the members, including Mr Smith, who 
had made the earlier document, do you accept that?---I 
don't know if I had spoken to Mr Smith but I accept the 
general proposition. 

Look, in any event whether or not you'd seen the document 
being prepared, you'd spoken to him and you produced the 
dot points there which, to at least a significant extent, 
reflect the views that he had expressed previously in his 
document?---! hadn't seen his document. 
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All right. Then what happens is this, that at the end of 
it all there's a note which says that a briefing paper to 
Superintendent Biggin about strengths, weaknesses, 
opportunities and threats is to be prepared, right?---Yes. 

Was that your idea or was that a suggestion from 
others?---No, that was mine. 

Is that a document 
a risk assessment to 
would probably flesh 
basis. 

- ?---Mr, sorry, Mr Biggin asked for 
be done and I thought a SWOT analysis 
out more of the issues on a broader 

A risk assessment effectively would be - some of the points 
- would include some of the points that would be, might be 
regarded as threats or weaknesses in a SWOT 
analysis?---Correct. 

And certainly a risk assessment would include the points 
that were discussed in your document there?---Yes. 

And indeed those points there that you came up with in that 
reasonably short discussion might well have been risks that 
could have been put into the source management log or 
indeed a reinvigorated risk assessment at any stage prior 
to that date, mightn't they?---Could have, yes. 

But they weren't, were they, at any stage prior to 
that?---Well with the benefit of hindsight, I mean our task 
was to prepare a risk assessment in relation to her 
becoming a witness and that focused our direction and 
attention to some pretty complicated issues. 

Yes, all right. So that's what you did. There was to be a 
meeting the next day. I assume there were at least some of 
the people came in from leave to attend to this issue, is 
that right?---! haven't got a note of anyone coming in off 
leave. I've got a note of who attended the meeting, who 
could have attended the meeting given the very short time 
lines and advanced notice we had of this required piece of 
work. 

It was a special SDU meeting to discuss the Petra Task 
Force request for Ms Gobbo and prepare issues for 
discussion. You went into the office at 5:45, dealt with 
some matters and then the meeting commenced at 08:50, is 
that right?---Yes. 
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You set out in that meeting the attendees, there's yourself 
obviously, Mr Richards, Mr Green, Mr Smith and the next 
person is?---The next two initials are our TIOs. 

Analysts?---Yes, and then 

And then yourself?---Correct. 

You set out the objective being, that is the objective of 
Petra is for Ms Gobbo to give evidence for the Task 
Force?--- Yes. 

And the strategic analysis undertaken against the objective 
being sought?---Yes. 

The analysis that's being prepared is undertaken against 
the objective. So how does that work? You have an 
objective and then you've got to analyse the fors and 
against that objective, or against that objective, is that 
right?---Yes, my thinking around using a SWOT analysis is 
perhaps there are some strengths, weaknesses, opportunities 
and then we're pretty across most of the threats but, you 
know, we can consider the internal and external. Basically 
this is a pretty significant business proposition we're 
asked to provide some advice on and that's how I approached 
the exercise. 

All right?---Without demeaning the process this was a 
pretty important piece of work. 

I follow that. And a considerable amount of attention was 
given to it?---Yes, well we met for, you know, an hour and 
40 minutes and then I commenced to type it up. 

And it wasn't a matter that was taken lightly by 
anyone?-- -Not at all. 

It was approached conscientiously?---Yes. 

And whilst there might have been a view, certainly a view 
that you had, your view was that even before you started 
this analysis that she should not be used a witness, that 
was the position I take it that you had at the commencement 
of the process?---Correct, that's one of the cornerstone 
pieces of work, managing sources, particularly high risk is 
to not turn sources into witnesses. It's a world wide 
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accepted proposition. 

I follow that. And so a number of things were considered 
in the initial stages in the meeting. Obviously the 
appointment, they need a statement without which they 
wouldn't be able to charge Dale, et cetera, and you've set 
out some of the points in dot form earlier on, that is it 
would be embarrassing, there's an issue about her fitness 
to make the statement. There was an issue about, at least 
suggested here of criminal liability regarding the murder 
of the Hodsons. Was that something that was seriously 
considered by any of the people there?---Well it goes back 
probably to the point at the start there, where Petra needs 
a statement otherwise they would be unable to charge Dale. 
That was quite a burden to consider when trying to balance 
what the advice would look like, we were absolutely mindful 
that this was a very serious issue. We're not just saying 
no for no's sake, hence my proposition to use a SWOT 
analysis as opposed to a traditional risk assessment. I 
think a SWOT probably would, as I said, identify any 
strengths and as a matter of fairness the last thing I want 
to do is give Mr Biggin poor advice or incomplete advice. 

Yes, I follow that, all right. Petra were seeking to cover 
three points, what does that mean they were wanting to 
cover three points?---These are the issues that went 
towards why Petra wanted to, you know, Petra holistically, 
the steering committee and command wanted to make her a 
witness. They are the three main areas that we understood 
why they required her as a witness. 

To cover those to make, to provide evidence in relation to 
those three matters?---And they're three significant 
points. 

Yes, okay. The meeting obviously went on for quite some 
time. After the meeting at 10.30 you put together an 
email, I take it?---Yes. 

Do you know what time the email was ultimately sent?---No. 

But I take it it would have been some time afterwards 
because there was quite a bit of work I take it that went 
into the preparation of the document?---Correct. 

In any event it seems that you've set up an email and 
you've described in the email - am I right about that, that 
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that's what is reflected there, an email?---I haven't got -
look it's obviously, I've obviously replicated the contents 
of the SWOT analysis into my electronic diary. 

Yes?---But I notice there, I'd be, look I'd be, I know it's 
set up as an email but I'd be surprised if I did email that 
type of information over the - I know I delivered the 
original one by hand to Mr Biggin. I think as a matter -
because there's no details of even it being sent and it 
doesn't carry any of my signature block on the bottom, so I 
don't think, I don't think I would have emailed that given 
the sensitivity of it. 

I'll cut you short, I think the answer is on the following 
page. Page 618 of the RCMPI document, p.137 of the 
document you provided to Justice Kellam. If you go to 
p.619, we'll see at the bottom, at the end of all that 
document you'll see the briefing note is completed at 
12.30?---Thank you. 

"The only requirement I think it will be loaded on to the Z 
drive by one of the analysts . Only a hard copy for 
delivery by hand to Superintendent Biggin later in the 
day"?---That's of assistance, thank you, yeah, because I 
wouldn't think I would have emailed that over the system. 
It was pretty sensitive and that notation at 12.30 explains 
I think how seriously we took it. 

Just briefly, I don't want to labour this. You go through 
the strengths on the first page, there's three dot points 
there?---Yes. 

If we go back to the first page?---Yes. 

The SWOT analysis. Three points there. Information, 
evidence critical to support serious charges, possible 
prosecution of Dale and others and it might also lead, it 
would lead to the disengagement of the SDU and the 
management of Ms Gobbo?---Yes. 

Clearly by that stage, given what we've seen beforehand, 
there were, there seems to be repeated, at least attempts 
to break with Ms Gobbo. This would finally lead to that 
outcome and that was regarded as a strength, do we see 
that?---Yes. 

Okay. Then weaknesses seem to, there seem to be more of 
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those and there's the possible OPI Government review into 
legal, ethical implications. It doesn't say on what but do 
we take it that it's the SDU management of Ms Gobbo as a 
human source generally?---! think it's probably broader 
than that. The use, the possible use of that source by 
Victoria Police. It's not specific to the SDU. 

Yes, I follow that. For the reasons do I take it that 
we've discussed, perhaps ad nauseam this morning and 
yesterday, for those reasons that we've asked you about 
concerning the possible Royal Commission, et cetera?---That 
was a consideration, yes. 

It would lead to the disclosure of the relationship, Gobbo 
with the SDU?---Yes. 

There are time sensitivities because she has the medical 
condition?---Yes, and the time sensitivity also related to 
her personal security. Like we hadn't, we couldn't quite 
understand the rush. Like we hadn't turned our mind to 
ensuring if this was the path we were going to go down, is 
she safe? Like what was the rush? 

In any event that referred to medical condition and 
medication?---! think it goes along there, the time 
sensitivity for human source which addressed medical, 
medication, no time to plan, it's in relation to her 
safety. 

Okay. Then the adverse relationship with VicPol and then 
there's a question of her credibility. So that's a 
weakness of the decision for her to be a witness because 
there might be serious aspersions cast against her 
credibility because of her acquaintances with criminal 
associates and sexual relationships?---Yes. 

That's obviously a weakness with her as a witness. In 
other words, if we called her as a witness are you going to 
get much benefit from it because she's going to be attacked 
because of her credit or on the basis of her 
credit?---Indeed. 

And with some success quite likely?---We expected so. 

And there'd be damage to her reputation and effectively 
that would be the end of her business as a 
barrister?---Correct. 
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And the next matter was that there would likely be, if she 
came to be a witness, there would in all probability be a 
wealth of material that could be made available in the 
nature of prior inconsistent statements. That's what you 
were getting to there I take it?---Yes. 

And in particular concerning or relevant to the SDU 
relationship with Dale and the failure to, sorry, her 
relationship with Dale insofar as the information that 
she'd provided to the SDU, for example, the disclosure of 
the bogus mobile phone numbers or the failure to 
disclose?---Yes. 

Is that right? I mean anyone cross-examining her would 
attack her and say, "Well look, we having got these 
documents can now see she has told lies to the SDU, she 
hasn't told them about the bogus numbers and we now know 
about the bogus numbers". The expectation being that 
anyone, if she's a witness, there's a real risk that all of 
these documents concerning the relationship between Gobbo 
and the SDU would come to light?---! don't think there was 
any risk at all, I think it was an - our considered view 
was it was an absolute certainty. The moment she becomes a 
witness then we're alive to all disclosure issues and 
rightfully so. 

Then there was another weakness and that really was a 
question of what you were not aware of as being held by 
Petra, in particular Carl Williams in respect to Rodney 
Collins and another person we are obviously not going to 
mention?---Indeed. And quite rightly we weren't across 
what the Petra Task Force and the steering committee had 
and I'm sure there were things that they didn't need to 
share with us, but that was a weakness as far as trying to 
understand or risk assess this proposal. 

Another weakness was - - -

MR HOLT: It's the same set of documents again that I've 
raised concern or focus on. They're the ones that haven't 
been reviewed for anything by Victoria Police. 

COMMISSIONER: All right then. Just on the witness's 
screen and my screen, thanks. 

MR WINNEKE: It was considered that the SDU shouldn't be 
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g1v1ng advice about this?---Correct, this needed to be a 
decision by her. 

And that was your view, she had to make that 
decision?---That was the considered view of the office, 
yes, it was her decision. 

All of these points that we see here are, the end result 
are the considered view of all of the people who were in 
the office and participating in this process, is that fair 
to say?---Yes. 

And then the next point, the next weakness is the 
assistance of VicPol is known to numerous investigators 
over the passage of time?---Yes. 

And that's regarded as a weakness and why is that 
so?---Well a lot of people through the passage of time, I 
mean it was part of the strategy why we changed her number, 
were becoming aware of who she was and that would then 
potentially pollute other jobs as well. 

Right?---The forefront to this was to make sure she wasn't 
going to get killed. 

That was obviously part of it, I suppose, although it 
doesn't, certainly it doesn't appear as a point in the 
weakness section. It appears in the threats but not the 
weaknesses in any event?---Hang on, well, I think that's, 
it's documented in the threats and I think that's the 
appropriate place to - it wasn't a weakness it was a real 
threat. I mean this was serious stuff. 

The reality is the threats and the weaknesses really 
line-up in the one column, on the one side of the ledger, 
don't they?---Yeah, that's fair. 

Then costs to Victoria Police, one assumes just in the 
general revenue of the State and that is making the source 
a witness could be substantial because it may well be that 
the loss of income as a result of her loss of business 
would need to be, as far as you were concerned, made up to 
her?---Yes. 

And relocation of the source costs?---Yes. 

And then there are the opportunities and again, as I say, 
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these seem to line-up in the same column as the strengths I 
suppose because it would enable the deactivation of 
Ms Gobbo?---Yes. 

An opportunity would be for her to seek legal advice. Why 
would that enable, provide her with an opportunity to seek 
legal advice?---Well, if she makes the decision to become a 
Crown witness then she'll need to get some legal advice. 

I mean the reality is she should have been advised to get 
legal advice perhaps on about 16 September 2005, shouldn't 
she, if not before?---She's a barrister. It's a matter for 
her. 

Yes, okay. And the view was taken that she'd already got 
some legal advice from a Mr Hill, !an Hill?---Yes. 

That was a recollection that someone had?---Yes. 

That she'd got some advice but that was surrounding the 
requirement for her to attend before Mr Fitzgerald at the 
OPI, wasn't it?---That's my understanding of it, yes, but 
at the time of typing this up these were some issues we 
were getting down on paper and that was our belief. 

Then obviously the finalisation of the relationship with 
Ms Gobbo. Again it seems to be much the same as the 
strength, that is to disengage with her, that would be 
good?---Yes. 

And the settlement of a substantial cash reward for her. I 
don't know whether that's an opportunity or not, but 
certainly that was certainly going to be a consequence as 
far as you were concerned, is that right?---Yes. 

An opportunity would be to force her to attend a hearing. 
Why would that be an opportunity? How could that be of any 
use?---Our thinking around that was that if command had 
made a decision that she was going to become a Crown 
witness, then are there some other ways that we could get 
that evidence and provide some sort of cover without 
completely compromising 3838 as a Crown witness and we 
thought, well, perhaps there's an opportunity, that's the 
proposition, then perhaps we could consider her attending 
some compulsory hearing matters that might be able to 
achieve what Petra had been trying to achieve. 
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Okay?---Through making a statement. 

I follow that. Then the final part of all this are the 
threats. I take it these threats are both, not just to 
Ms Gobbo but more generally to Victoria Police and the SDU, 
would that be fair to say?---Well there's one, sorry, just 
there was one last point just under that, just above 
threats. 

I apologise?---Which is pretty - no, no, which is pretty 
important because, you know, one of the stated motivations 
was to get Mokbel and the cartel out of her life. Well, 
depending on the strength of it, that would be a mechanism 
to achieve that. 

I follow?---She could just disappear. 

She could have taken six months off back in 2005 as well, 
that might have helped, do you agree with that?---Sorry, 
your reference in 2005? 

Yes, before this whole disaster commenced. Perhaps I 
withdraw that. This whole process commenced, her being a 
human source against her clients, it could have been 
suggested at the very beginning, "If you're concerned about 
the Mokbels and them being in your life, if you're 
concerned about conflicts, you've had a stroke, you're 
unwell. You say to the Mokbels, 'Look, I'm not capable of 
working as a barrister, I'm very unwell. I'm 30-odd years 
of age and I've had a stroke, I'm getting out of the 
business'", that could have been done way back then, 
couldn't it?---That's a fair point, and if we had also been 
told she had been registered twice before by Victoria 
Police that might have influenced our thinking and decision 
making as well. 

Yes?---Particularly when we had adverse comments made by 
executive command, particularly in relation to the 1999 
registration. That would have influenced and given us a 
better picture of the circumstances and some of the 
background which we didn't have when this individual was 
brought to us by Major Drug. 

Can I just briefly ask about that because you've mentioned 
that I think in your statement. What you say, "It was 
grossly negligent of Victoria Police, whoever was 
responsible, not to inform us of previous 
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registrations"?---Yes. 

I think you've referred to both gross negligence and 
perhaps also a conscious decision. Just excuse me. What 
do you say, do you say it was a question of negligence or 
deliberateness?---! sit here today and I still can't 
understand why we weren't briefed on those two 
registrations. I accept the 1995 one given the process and 
the antiquated manual system that operated, but I mean I 
found, I found the 1999 registration paperwork in November 
2015 and I was shocked that, one, it had taken place, two, 
if I could find it, surely, like HSMU had possession of it, 
I just don't understand why that wasn't shared with us, let 
alone when she was registered. She would have been on the 
system. I don't, I just still don't understand how, how 
that wasn't shared because there is no reason why it 
wouldn't have been shared. We were the high risk unit for 
Victoria Police. I thought that would have been an 
important piece of information to discover. 

All right. If I can just deal with that briefly. Firstly 
what you say is it might have had an impact on whether or 
not she was originally registered back in 2005. That's the 
first point you make?---Sorry, can you just repeat that 
again? 

This came up because you mentioned that had you been aware 
of those earlier registrations, it might have had an impact 
on the question of whether she was registered in September 
of 2005 and thereafter, is that right?---Yes. 

And what I want to ask you - and you say, well look, 
insofar as the earlier registration, the 95 registration, 
it may well be, because of the antiquated system, that that 
didn't come to light because the systems were simply not 
good enough and the paper filing and so forth, do you 
accept that?---Yes, in actual fact I don't even think I 
knew she was registered in 1995 until this Commission 
started. 

Indeed that was the one I think where Mr Blayney described 
her as being a loose cannon at the end and that was, it 
seemed, at least one reason why they discontinued her use 
back in 95. That might have been relevant?---! think it 
would have been very relevant. 

No doubt you would have still continued, I assume you would 
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have assessed her, would you, or not?---! expect we would 
have assessed her, yes. 

The other registration - this is the one you're 
particularly critical of, the fact that you weren't 
informed about the registration in 1999. That was 
something that you were, you say, you should have been made 
aware of?---Absolutely. The document's are sitting in the 
HSMU safe. 

There are two possibilities, one as far as you were 
concerned is negligence?---Yes. 

And the other one is the deliberate decision on the part of 
someone?---Yeah, and that could have been the case. It 
just would have still been nice to know that she had been 
registered. 

You're not suggesting or do you suggest that any particular 
person made a conscious decision not to give it to you?---! 
haven't got that evidence but there are occasions when some 
individuals are registered twice. 

Yes?---And depending on the risk sometimes that's shared, 
sometimes it's not, it's a case by case proposition. 

All right. Do you say, in all seriousness, if you'd have 
had that file and looked at it, and clearly, you know, 
we've looked at it, you've looked at it, would that in all 
seriousness have meant that she was unlikely to have been 
registered for that purpose, I'm sorry, for that 
reason?---It would have been a major consideration, 
particularly with the circumstances. 

I understand that. But I'm asking you albeit with the 
benefit of hindsight to seriously consider whether that 
would have made a significant difference to whether or not 
she was registered?---Well, still to this date I haven't 
had the benefit to sit down and go through the entire file. 
The mere fact she'd been registered and some of the 
individuals involved in that and the matters she was 
involved in, it would have had a significant impact. 

Okay. Now, bearing in mind that you, as certainly an 
upgraded controller and an actual controller and a 
relatively senior member of this office, was of the view or 
were of the view in 2006, in 2007, in 2008, that she should 
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have been deactivated, if not deregistered, but that never 
seemed to occur, do you say in all seriousness that those 
who were desirous of having Ms Gobbo registered as a human 
source, that is the upper echelons of Victoria Police, 
would seriously not have had her registered because of the 
earlier registration in 1999?---I don't know who knew about 
the earlier registration in 1999. I didn't know until I 
got a specific task to go and check on some background 
details for a proposed reward proposal. That was in 
November/October, I think I started October 2015, I was 
shocked. 

I understand that. But had it been known at the time, do 
you think that that would have been a piece of knowledge 
which would have prevented her from being registered in 
2005, in all seriousness, do you say it would have?---It 
could have. 

It could have you say?---It could have. It certainly would 
have featured on our risk assessment, that is something we 
need to be mindful of. 

You've looked at this, you've looked at the previous 
registration. What is it about the previous registration, 
that is in 1999, please identify anything in that 
registration which you say would have meant that Mr White, 
or you if you'd have been involved, would have said she 
can't be registered?---The mere fact that she'd been 
registered before in 1999, and some of the people involved 
in that registration, that's the point. 

Which piece - - - ?---We should have been -well I think 
Mr Pope was listed as the handler. 

What's that got to do with it?---I'm just working my way 
through if I may. 

Sorry?---! got given a job to start compiling some 
information for a reward for 3838, which I did. Part of my 
work was to go into the safe. I reached into the safe and 
I located three documents. 

We understand that. Just focus on the question. I'd like 
to, if we can, get it finished. What I want to do is find 
out what it is in that document which is of such 
significance when you saw it which causes you to say it may 
well have made a significant difference and could have 
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resulted in her not being registered on 16 September or 
thereafter in 2005, can you address that?---I'll repeat the 
answer. 

Just address the question?---I'll repeat my answer again. 

No, can you address the question?---Can I answer your 
question? 

That's what I want you to do?---So that's the first time we 
became aware that she had been registered in 1999. 

We know that?---The details - can I finish? The details in 
that file were scant, other than basic registration 
details, I think there were two pages with the details of 
who was involved, in an envelope with a source number on it 
and the fact is we still to this day don't know the details 
of that engagement. So if we had discovered the fact she'd 
been registered we would have then gone to the 
investigators and sat down and fully debriefed with them, 
"What happened? What did you do? What was the risks? 
What was the results?" We didn't get that opportunity. So 
without being difficult, in fairness unless you've got all 
the information we were at a significant disadvantage. I 
don't even think Mr Biggin even knew that she had been 
registered in 1999, let alone 1995. 

All right. 
registered 
registered 
where that 

Do you say that the fact that a person has been 
previously disqualifies them from being 
in the future?---There are some circumstances 
is absolutely the fact. 

If, for example, a person appears to simply enjoy being an 
informer, that's a risk to the information, is it?---I'm 
answering this in open is difficult. There are 
circumstances where some people are designated never to be 
registered again. 

Right. There was nothing - - - ?---That's as far as I can 
take it. 

There was nothing in the 1999 registration which designated 
her never to be registered again?---How would we know? 

Well we know now?---We haven't been given access to the 
file to this day. 
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I thought you had. You've got access to the file now?---We 
have not been given access to the 1995 file to this date, I 
haven't seen it, I'm not aware of anybody else who has seen 
it. I'm not aware of what's in it. 

Can I tell you this, it doesn't say in the 1999 file that 
she's never to be registered again?---This is 1999. 

Yes?---The practices were pretty - this is why it was 
important to go and debrief with the people involved and 
ultimately, you know, our CSR would have the ultimate 
decision over that. 

In any event you didn't have that opportunity?---Didn't 
even know about it. 

And you didn't know about it, okay?---Correct. 

If we can deal with the threats. Obviously the disclosure 
of her role may result in her death or serious 
injury?---Yes. 

And she didn't want to enter any protection program?---She 
was very reluctant. 

There was an issue about adherence to policy with respect 
to her and special circumstances?---Yes. 

Do you see that?---Yes. 

"If she makes a statement there's a duty of care owed to 
her", right?---Yes. 

And that's a threat?---Yes. 

Why is that?---Because once she becomes a witness it 
activates another level of duty of care in, which is even 
more complex because she's been disclosed. 

Then there's the question of whether she's a witness or a 
source?---Yes. 

And then the exposure of the source as a consequence of 
becoming a Crown witness, that's obviously a threat?---Yes. 

And then there's the threat, the judicial review of police 
actions in tasking and deploying one of their own?---Yes. 
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That's clearly something that you'd been alluding to and 
concerned about since 2006 at least, do you agree with 
that?---Yes. 

And whether you call it judicial review or a Royal 
Commission, one way or the other someone is going to be 
looking very closely into what you'd been 
doing?---Absolutely. 

Then the tasking by Petra to record the meeting on 7 
December, right, that's a threat?---Yes. 

She's never admitted criminal activities to the SDU?---Yes. 

Why is that a threat?---Because what we, again intelligence 
versus evidence is completely different stuff. We had no, 
she'd never admitted anything to us in relation to any 
crime or illegal activity. 

Right. The SDU had suspicions with respect to her 
motivation to assist, that is part of the motivation of her 
to assist you or Victoria Police is a guilty 
conscience?---Yes. 

And what was the susp1c1on there, in relation to 
what?---Well she had spoken to us over the years on many 
fronts about how she's part of the process, how she's, you 
know, gotten some people off that were guilty, she was a 
little frustrated with the judiciary and some of the 
sentencing aspects, or she might have had her own 
conscience about what she'd done or hadn't done. 

Then public interest immunity, Ms Gobbo is well connected 
in the Victorian legal fraternity. What's the threat 
there?---Well, we could run, we could run a public interest 
immunity claim but the - as you well know, there's no 
guarantee of winning that, so if you don't win it then 
we've pretty well exposed her. So there's no - absolutely 
that's a risk. 

That was a risk that had existed, I suggest to you, from 
the very outset?---It's a risk common across most areas of 
policing. We can claim PII but there's no guarantee we'd 
win, so if we don't win then we need to think about then 
what. 
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Obviously what you're really indicating there is that it 
would be left to the court to determine whether or not a 
public interest immunity claim was appropriate?---Yes. 

In other words it is taken out of your hands and put into 
the hands of the very body that should be deciding this 
issue, that's regarded as a weakness, or a threat, 
correct?---Yeah, once we go down this path, absolutely. 

Then there's the health issues and she uses an assortment 
of medication and indeed someone, or you have written down 
there a very high amount of analgesic pain 
medication?---Yes. 

For chronic pain and she's possibly suffering from 
depression albeit it's not diagnosed, right?---Correct. 

There's a reference to suicidality?---Yes. 

She'd suffered a stroke previously, albeit the date's 
incorrect?---Sure. 

And she's concerned about the safety and welfare of her 
relatives?---Yes. 

There's no known motivation for her making a 
statement?---Yes. 

And there's SDU SCRs and covert recordings, there's the 
possibility of all of that coming out and being 
disclosed?---Absolutely. 

And that may well be part of some public interest immunity 
claim?---Yes. 

There's time sensitive unknown issue to Petra Task Force 
and VicPol command and her role in Petra Task Force still 
not known by the SDU?---Yes. 

And then similar to the earlier judicial review there's an 
OPI review, she's a serving barrister assisting police and 
then there's consideration of unsafe verdicts, possible 
appeals and prosecutions of current matters, Mokbel and 
future. So - - - ?---Yes. 

So past and future Mokbels, all of those matters would in 
all probability come to light were she to be a 
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witness?---Yes, they were some considerations. 

Effectively, can I just put this to you, these matters 
which you regard as risks are nothing other than the proper 
course of the criminal justice system playing their natural 
course, public interest immunity issues, potential 
convictions being set aside, that's the bread and butter 
matter of the criminal justice system, isn't 
it?---Absolutely, and our task here was to assess the 
proposal of her making a statement, correct. 

I follow that. And in effect what you were trying to do, 
as I understand it, was to encourage those who were seeking 
to have Ms Gobbo become a witness and therefore exposing 
all of these issues, what you were trying to do was 
convince those people not to expose her, correct?---Our job 
was to provide succinct document to Mr Biggin to take to 
the powers above. Our job was to give the best informed 
advice we could and those of Petra, ultimately Mr Overland, 
they can make their own decisions but at least they have 
all the facts in front of them. That's what we tried to 
do, as it were, without any prejudice. There it is, warts 
and all. You tell us what you want done. 

Okay, all right then. Then there's another OPI 
investigation and that's the implications of Ms Gobbo's 
involvement with another person, do you see that 
there?---Yeah, that's - the words are a bit different. It 
was an analogy of a previous example of the consequences of 
this proposal. 

Can you explain that in more of an enlightening way without 
exposing that particular person there?---Sure. It's an 
example when Victoria Police decided to change an informer 
to a witness and, yeah, that was problematic and resulted 
in compensation. 

That person gave evidence- - - ?---That's - sorry? 

That person gave evidence in a proceeding, in a number of 
proceedings?---! understand that's the case, yes. 

Did that person's role as a human source come to 
light?---Yes. 

Look, that happens not - well, it doesn't happen all the 
time but there have been examples when people who have been 
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human sources have become witnesses, that occurs on 
occasions?---! couldn't, I couldn't think of more than 
five. It's a very, very - it's an unusual course of 
action. 

Yes, I accept that. To be fair to you at least on one 
occasion there have been disastrous consequences?---Yes. 

Yes, all right. And then there's the media attention on 
the SDU, methodology and trade craft being exposed. 
Right?---Yes. 

That's clearly directed to the SDU and staff exposure 
likely during any associated court processes. So it may 
well be that because of the proper course of justice, it 
may well be that the SDU personnel if not their methodology 
might be exposed to the courts?---Correct. 

Financial damages. And risk versus benefit. The true 
value of the statement from this individual to any 
prosecution when balanced against all of the risks that 
you'd set out?---Yes. 

The idea of that document was to provide it to Mr Biggin, 
who then would shoot it up the line and you'd expect it 
would land on the lap of the likes of Mr Overland and other 
people in that chain, is that right?---My understanding 
that Mr Biggin had a meeting that afternoon which is what 
he required the briefing note for, hence the time 
sensitivity of it all and that's why I delivered it to him 
by hand. 

Okay. And then there's further issues about that or 
further discussions about it and I think you had a 
discussion with, if you go over the page there's, you hand 
deliver the note at 5 past 3 and you have a discussion with 
Mr White about it at 10 to 6?---Yes. 

Then there's another discussion about it. You're called to 
the 6th floor. I'm sorry, you called the 6th floor at 
St Kilda Road to follow up the briefing note. Who is on 
the 6th floor?---That's where Mr Biggin sits. 

Okay. And you rang him?---Sorry, just the previous page 
there, if we go back up. I think I actually tried to call 
Mr Sandy White as well. I left a message which then feeds 
into that call you mentioned just before. 
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Yes, I follow. Just before we move on, can I tell you 
this, that you recall I was asking you questions about the 
meeting that I suggested you had on 19 April 2006 where you 
were discussing telling the investigators about the 
problems that might arise if Ms Gobbo turned up, do you 
recall that?---Yes. 

And you considered that that really related, the initials 
there reflected Mr Hardy?---Yes. 

Can I just ask you to have a look at this diary entry which 
is Mr Hardy's diary entry. Next page. Down the bottom, 
Wednesday the 19th, do you see that? It can come off the 
other screens as well. In any event, this is Mr Hardy's 
diary, do you see that?---Sure. 

He's at St Kilda Road at 14:40, then he is returning to the 
office at 15:30, Corro and inquiries 15:50, 17:00 off duty. 
See that?---Sure. 

After hours use of something or other. It appears that he 
wasn't there, so the initials are looking more likely, I 
suggest, as being yours at that meeting?---! just repeat, I 
just repeat my answer, I wasn't at that meeting. It's not 
in my diary, I would have made a diary entry of that 
meeting. That's as far as I can take it. 

All right. We'll continue the only other possibility is, 
the other initials, I think Mr Green and we'll see what we 
can find for him, if it appears he was not there either it 
would look even more likely it was you I suggest?---It 
wasn't me. 

MR CHETTLE: He was there. 

MR WINNEKE: Righto, in any event, subsequently what then 
happens is you have, if we can move on to p.143 in the 
document that you've provided to Mr Kellam. 

MR HOLT: Commissioner, I wonder if that diary entry ought 
be tendered? 

MR WINNEKE: I tender that, yes. 

MR HOLT: It doesn't have a VPL at present, it was provided 
by us at very short notice at the request of counsel 
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assisting earlier this morning. We'll produce a copy that 
has one, or the alternative is if there are no issues with 
it, it can be put into the system by the Commission but we 
can do it either way, Commissioner. 

MR WINNEKE: Thanks Commissioner. 

MR HOLT: I understand it's already in the process of 
production so it should come through later today. 

#EXHIBIT RC629A - (Confidential) Diary entry. 

#EXHIBIT RC629B- (Redacted version.) 

MR WINNEKE: The only other - perhaps just for the sake of 
completeness, the only other person it seems it could be 
who was at that meeting would be Mr Green, and we 
understand that he may have been at the office on that day 
but there's no note of he being at the meeting either. So, 
in any event you say it wasn't you?---! keep very good 
diary notes and I wasn't at the meeting. 

It's conceivable you didn't have your diary with you?---At 
the meeting are you saying that I was, on 19 April? 

It's all right. In any event - - -?---I would have had my 
diary with me. 

In any event can we move now to p.685 of your diary, this 
is at 143. Have you got that diary entry there?---Yes. 

Just have a read of that if you wouldn't mind. Do you 
recall making that entry?---Yes. 

You were at the Petra Task Force and you had a strategy 
meeting concerning Witness F, who was now -well the name 
given to Ms Gobbo at that stage?---Yes. 

And Mr Biggin was there, Messrs O'Connell, Sandy White and 
Mr Moloney had requested that you meet and discuss the 
current and future status?---Yes. 

And there be a meeting thereafter with Mr Overland in 
regards to the same issue, is that right?---Correct. 

And there was a bail affidavit which had been 
prepared?---Yes. 
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And the response needed to be served on 4 March. Do you 
see that?---Yes. 

And it was suggested that the SDU could assist with 
handling, right?---Yes. 

It was stated by Mr Overland that Ms Gobbo was an extremely 
important witness and there were rumours already flying 
around, is that right? 

COMMISSIONER: We've just lost him, sorry. We'll just see 
if we can see - I'm not quite sure at what point, I was 
looking at the other screen. Just then. Yes, we lost you 
for a few seconds there. Can you hear me, Mr Black?---Yes, 
Commissioner. 

Yes, you don't know what happened at your end?---No. It 
sent a message saying your end dropped out. 

Okay. All right, Mr Black's back. 

MR WINNEKE: Okay, good. Do you recall this 
meeting?---Yes. 

There's a note here that there were, you made assorted 
notations for later discussion points regarding the SDU 
perspective?---Yes. 

And these are points that you made following the meeting 
with Mr Overland, is that right?---! never met with 
Mr Overland. 

I'm sorry, okay. Mr White did?---Correct. 

But you set out or you made these notations for discussions 
for his benefit, I assume, later on, is that right?---No, 
these notes were made for me for my benefit. I'm sure 
Mr White was making his own notes. 

I take it the notes that, the notes that you set out were 
obviously matters that you considered to be 
significant?---They're just largely a reflection of what 
the meeting discussed. 

The first point is the SDU secondment will expose the SDU 
and contaminate judicial proceedings?---Yes. 
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What does that mean?---Well, at this stage she's a witness, 
she's no longer a source. 

Yes?---So why would you have SDU people performing that 
role. 

How would it contaminate judicial proceedings?---Because we 
have deactivated her, we have nothing more to do with the 
witness. 

Right?---So that's something, that was a challenge for the 
organisation to think of and deal with and, yeah, it's -
well in our time it was a unique, a unique situation. 

In any event the secondment will expose the SDU and 
contaminate other judicial proceedings, not the judicial 
proceedings that Ms Gobbo was giving evidence in, or 
purporting, proposed to give evidence in but the other 
judicial proceedings which had already occurred when the 
SDU had been involved previously, would that be fair to 
say?---No, this was a note in relation to her becoming a 
Crown witness. She is now in the hands of the 
investigators. 

Yes?---And we don't want that aspect contaminated, of what 
she's a witness for. That's what that relates to. 

I suggest to you it doesn't. What I suggest is it's a 
repetition of what you've said previously, it exposes the 
SDU and leads to the potential that other judicial 
proceedings may become exposed or at least - it will become 
apparent, the SDU's involvement will become apparent, 
Ms Gobbo's involvement will become apparent and it will 
lead to the possibility of other proceedings being set 
aside because of the contamination of those proceedings by 
the SDU and its handling of Ms Gobbo?---That's not correct. 
These are my notes. That dot point reflected, we're having 
a meeting about Witness F, about this witness. That dot 
point was about exactly as I've stated there. We don't 
want to be involved with this witness any more because 
she's no longer a source, she's now a witness, and we don't 
want to contaminate that process, she's a witness for the 
investigators and they need to, Petra and command need to 
think about how they're going to manage that. 

Then you set out the various issues, other issues that 
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you've got over the page?---Yes. 

The SDU, bottom of the first page, you note here that the 
SDU had warned command and Petra of all of the issues 
raised by Petra. Is that - what does that refer to? Is 
that in effect your SWOT analysis?---Correct. 

And then over the page, one of the points that you make is 
the issue regarding Ms Gobbo's viability as a witness 
regarding other matters, for example, Karam, Mokbel and 
Gatto and what's that concern there?---Well it would go to 
- I'm not exactly sure. 

Okay. Had there been discussion about her being a witness 
in those proceedings also?---! don't recall so, no. 

Okay, all right. Can I move on to p.146 of your diary. 
This is 691. This is 29 May 2009?---Sure. 

There's a reference - you're called by Detective Senior 
Sergeant Iddles and he wanted to meet you regarding 
Operation Briars?---Yes. 

You understand that at this stage Briars wanted Ms Gobbo to 
become a witness?---Yes. 

And you have a meeting with Iddles. If we go over the 
following page, at 5.30. And these points you make at the 
meeting or subsequent to the meeting, is that right?---! 
would have had my laptop with me so I pretty well would 
have typed as we spoke. 

What was apparent was that the command had decided because 
she was a witness with Petra, they decided to approach her 
to be a witness with Briars, that is in relation to the 
murder of Chartres-Abbott, correct?---Yes, they both had 
steering committees, they both had legal people and 
Mr Overland and some others sat on both steering 
committees, so we sort of cross-pollinated as it were. 

Can I suggest that by this stage there was a desire on the 
part of command, and also a hope on the part of the SDU, 
that Ms Gobbo could actually be a witness in the Petra 
prosecution without her previous role as a human source 
becoming known?---! don't know how we thought we were going 
to achieve that. 

.24/10/19 8308 
BLACKXXN 

 
 
This document has been redacted for Public Interest Immunity claims made by Victoria Police. 
                                                       These claims are not yet resolved. 



15 : 11 : 36 1 
15 : 11 : 39 2 
15 : 11 : 46 3 
15 : 11 : 48 4 
15 : 11 : 52 5 
15 : 11 : 55 6 
15 : 11 : 56 7 
15 : 11 : 57 8 
15 : 12 : 01 9 
15 : 12 : 05 10 
15 : 12 : 09 11 
15 : 12 : 17 12 
15 : 12 : 23 13 
15 : 12 : 27 14 
15 : 12 : 32 15 
15 : 12 : 38 16 
15 : 12 : 42 17 
15 : 12 : 47 18 
15 : 12 : 47 19 
15 : 12 : 50 20 
15 : 12 : 50 21 
15 : 12 : 50 22 
15 : 12 : 54 23 
15 : 12 : 56 24 
15 : 13 : 03 25 
15 : 13 : 03 26 
15 : 13 : 09 27 
15 : 13 : 14 28 
15 : 13 : 14 29 
15 : 13 : 18 30 
15 : 13 : 20 31 
15 : 13 : 24 32 
15 : 13 : 32 33 
15 : 13 : 36 34 
15 : 13 : 41 35 
15 : 13 : 46 36 
15 : 13 : 49 37 
15 : 13 : 54 38 
15 : 13 : 59 39 
15 : 14 : 02 40 
15 : 14 : 03 41 
15 : 14 : 07 42 
15 : 14 : 11 43 
15 : 14 : 16 44 
15 : 14 : 20 45 
15 : 14 : 21 46 
15 : 14 : 25 47 

VPL.0018.0006.0786 

What you said here was the SDU view was that the 
circumstances as between Briars and Petra were very 
different and that the SDU anticipates if that course of 
action is pursued, that is Briars getting her, the 
individual's role as a human source will be 
discovered?---Correct. 

So she'd already been grabbed by Petra, she'd already made 
a statement and signed a statement and what you're 
suggesting there is Briars is different because she had 
actually been tasked by the SDU and the very conduct of 
Ms Gobbo in that matter would absolutely be part of the 
witness statement and without a doubt she would be exposed 
as a human source in that case?---! think it's probably a 
little worse than that. The position with Briars is that 
back on April 2007 we'd already identified the fact that 
clearly we would be breaching LPP. 

Well?---That's where the difference is between Petra and 
Briars. 

That's your concern, that the information that she'd 
provided in the statement was in breach of legal 
professional privilege?---No, the approach from Briars. 

Right, okay?---On the circumstances in relation to the two 
clients would be clearly in breach of LPP. 

Right. In any event you still were maintaining that there 
was a significant difference and there was at least the 
prospect that in the Petra matter she wouldn't be exposed 
as a human source?---No. The moment she became a Crown 
witness she was going to be exposed as a human source for 
Petra and so be it. You know, the decisions around that 
will be - that's a matter for Victoria Police command, but 
as far as Briars is concerned we didn't want that to happen 
because the initial tasking request would breach, it's a 
flagrant breach of LPP and that's why we tried to suggest 
and think of other alternatives rather than using her. 

I don't know how flagrant it would be. Are you suggesting 
that the request by the steering committee in relation to 
Briars was in fact to use her in the role as a 
lawyer?---No. The request was against their targets. 

Who you say were her clients?---Well they had been clients. 
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They had been clients, so that's what was bad about that as 
far as you were concerned?---Well, yes. 

In any event you set out the circumstances from Briars' 
perspective?---May I just expand on that answer? This is 
in relation to the full understanding of what LPP is. 
That's the difference between Petra and Briars. 

All right. I'm struggling to understand the difference. 
So you say it's an LPP issue with respect to 
Briars?---Correct. 

Why is that?---We weren't breaching LPP in our view. 

Yes?---In relation to Petra. She was telling us 
information about serious crime unconnected to matters 
strictly before the court. 

Yes, all right?---The Briars situation, that's the 
difference. 

Why is it different with Briars?---Because she wasn't 
providing us with information that she was permitted to 
under LPP. The approach was because she had an existing 
relationship to task to their targets and, as I said, 
that's why we tried to think of other strategies that we 
could assist Briars perhaps not using her in that instance 
against those two particular targets. 

Do you say what Waddell asked you to do in April of 2007 
was to use her in the capacity as a lawyer to get 
information from Waters in the first place?---The general 
proposal was to task her to their targets. 

I follow that. And to have her, in effect, pretend to be 
their lawyer?---Well, that was a thing that we identified 
and that's why we tried to suggest other alternatives. 

Certainly one of the things that it was suggested that 
Mr Dale would do would claim that she was his lawyer, 
that's what Mr Smith was suggesting in his dot point 
analysis?---It's whether or not you can prove actually 
whether you're covered by LPP or not, whether it's a 
professional relationship or not. 

Then you set out the points there from Briars' perspective, 
there was again concern of disclosure of her role as a 
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source, the dual responsibilities of g1v1ng legal advice to 
clients, the disclosure will initiate a Royal Commission 
with perceived unsafe verdicts. Now that obviously refers 
to the sorts of matters that you'd been concerned about 
previously?---Yes. 

And there's the same sorts of issues, current arrests which 
she's involved with may be the subject of review. Clearly 
that's a reference to an arrest that we've been talking 
about during the course of the SDU period?---Yes. 

Disclosure of methodology, correct?---Yes. 

Same sorts of things again, right?---Yes. 

Is that right? These are matters that you discussed with 
Mr Iddles?---Yes. 

And then you have a discussion with Mr Glow on Monday, 1 
June and you put all these matters to him, is that 
right?---Yes. 

And from what you said previously you got the impression 
that he really wasn't following, is that right?---Correct. 

And you needed to make it plainer to him?---Very much. 

So that's what you did, is that right?---Yes. 

There's a reference to, if we go to p.150 at p.695. 
Firstly let's go to 94. So that sets out the discussion, 
briefing with Mr Glow, DI Glow, correct?---Yes. 

Then we go to the next page down the bottom, there's an 
adjourned Purana meeting followed by a request from 
Mr Smith at the HSMU to discuss another issue regarding 
Mr Smith being upgraded, right?---Yes. 

And then there's reference to making, Gobbo making a 
statement. And then if we go over the page?---Yes. 

There's a briefing again with Mr Glow, is that 
right?---Yes. 

"He's unaware of the meeting, unaware of direction. He 
lodged my objection" - what's all that about?---Yes, I had 
to locate our Inspector and brief him as far as what's 
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going on. 

There had been directions to the SDU at this stage to hand 
over material to Briars, had there not?---Correct. 

And you lodged your objection to that request?---Not so 
much an objection but I wanted to make sure if this was the 
course of action they were going to adopt then there's some 
consequences they need to turn their mind to. 

You were very concerned if she made a statement to Briars 
regarding deployment at that stage?---Yes. 

And you say that the situation was very different to those 
at the time of Petra Task Force?---Yes. 

And you requested an audience with Superintendent 
Porter?---Because he was our Central Source Registrar and 
it appeared that, as it were, he was being bypassed, as it 
were, through these communications. 

So you attended upon Superintendent Porter with 
Mr Smith?---Yes, so I asked our Inspector in charge to try 
and arrange a meeting with Mr Porter just to make sure my 
chain of command knew what was going on. 

And you lodged your objections and you set out the 
implications and you talked about the differences between 
the two proceedings and you made this point, that public 
interest immunity may not be successful and it may 
jeopardise the HSMU program?---Yes. 

And may cause a Royal Commission?---Yes. 

Command, in other words if command insists on doing this, 
they may cause a Royal Commission?---That was a 
consideration. 

So again we get this concern about a Royal Commission, 
correct?---They're my words, yes. 

And Briars' decision, that is a decision to get a statement 
from her, is tactically dangerous for convictions?---Yes. 

And effectively again what you're saying there is these 
people who have been convicted may well be enlightened and 
they may well come into possession of information which 
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would enable them to go to the courts and ask the courts to 
consider whether they had been convicted on the basis of 
improperly or unlawfully obtained evidence, correct?---! 
can't take it to that extent. We were just concerned that 
that, you know, that was a dangerous decision if that's 
what Briars wanted to do. 

What it meant is that people who were sitting in custody 
may be able to go to the Courts of Appeal, 
correct?---Correct. It was a consideration. 

And they might be able to access the criminal justice 
process as they should be entitled to access it, 
correct?---Once they get through the various thresholds, if 
that's what's decided, so be it, that's what's decided. I 
just needed to make sure the decision makers above me had 
all the advice. I was trying to get through and to 
Mr Porter's credit he took the meeting and took on board 
our points of view and Mr Smith was performing an upgraded 
role at HSMU so it was probably fortunate that he was in 
that position and assisted with that meeting with 
Mr Porter. 

I take it if you were to conduct a SWOT analysis that would 
be in the threat column as it was previously, 
correct?---Yes. 

Can I suggest that that indicates an absolutely perverted 
view of the system of justice because that should be in the 
positive column, that should be in the strength column, do 
you accept that proposition?---It could be, absolutely. 

It should be, shouldn't it?---Yes, but that's our job and 
that was our task and we did what we were required to do 
under policy and procedures. 

I suggest your job is to simply investigate in accordance 
with the law. That's your mantra as an investigator, I 
suggest?---My job as a controller at the Source Development 
Unit was an intelligence officer. That was my role, that 
was my job description. 

In any event, then this goes on and you speak to Mr White, 
who is on leave. You brief him with respect to the Briars 
Task Force matter?---Yes. Yes, I ring him and brief him 
about all that. 
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If we go over to p.3171. "The SDU should warn command 
strongly against the course of action that they propose as 
it will disclose her role, place her in extreme danger and 
possibly jeopardise convictions", right, do you see 
that?---Yes. 

Again, what I suggest to you is that is an absolute 
indication of the distorted way in which you and the SDU 
regarded your position as members of Victoria Police 
Force?---That's not accurate. I refute that. This 
conversation was, was, as far as the actions of Briars, 
this was a proposal that Sandy White had been discussing 
with Briars for some time. Somehow this had grown legs. 
The proposal had become fact. The Central Source 
Registrar, being Superintendent Porter, had been left out 
of certain decisions and I was just bringing it to their 
attention to say, "Hey, we just need to make sure that what 
we're about to do is people understand the issues" and 
that's all that we were doing. So to put some context 
around my diary entry and the process, that's what I was 
doing. 

All right. And again you point out the possibility that 
the public interest immunity argument could or would fail. 
PI! - - - ?---Yes. 

"As public interest will be viewed higher than protecting 
police methodology, it also goes to credit instructions to 
Ms Gobbo", do you agree with that?---Yes. 

You accept that the argument, the failure or otherwise of 
the public interest immunity argument is a question for the 
court. Do you agree with that?---Yes, but we have a duty 
of care to the individual we're trying to protect from 
being killed. 

You've got a duty in accordance with the criminal justice 
system too, don't you?---We do, but that's another 
alternative that's open to us if anyone wanted to listen. 

What are they?---Some matters can be withdrawn. 

That's an alternative, you withdraw charges?---It's one of 
the options. 

Did you ever suggest that?---That's something that was on 
the plates since we started this pilot. 
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What about the people who have been charged, convicted and 
incarcerated?---What's your point of the question? 

You can't withdraw charges against those people?---In 
context of the questions and answers I was just engaged in, 
I've given you my answer. If you want to pose another 
question I'm happy to answer it. 

Well I did?---One of the strategies we could employ was in 
relation to where I'm specifically being asked questions 
about PI! and one of the things we can do and have 
available to us is withdraw a charge if that's a safer 
option. Our job is to make sure no individual under our 
care, including ourselves, get compromised or murdered. 

I understand that. The question I asked you was with 
respect to people who have been convicted and you've 
expressed on numerous occasions the danger of convictions 
being upset. You can withdraw charges against people who 
have been charged but not convicted. In respect of people 
who have been convicted one of the things you can do is go 
to the prosecution and say, "We've got concerns about the 
fact that these people have been convicted on the basis of 
unsafe evidence"?---It's a consideration. That's a 
perception, that's part of the risk assessment process and 
that's a matter that the investigators deal with whilst 
they're putting the brief of evidence and going through the 
judicial procedures, and there's a lot of other barristers 
and QCs and judges that are all involved and ultimately I'd 
suggest there is a great deal of evidence to support the 
prosecution and on that basis it proceeded. What took 
place after that I can only speak from an SDU perspective. 
Our job is to give informed advice and that's what I 
attempted to do. 

Then your involvement in this continues on 3 June, 
correct?---Yes. 

On 4 June. I'm sorry, on 3 June that's the day you set out 
in clear and concise terms and made it absolutely clear 
using 101 building blocks about the problems and why it was 
that convictions might well be suspect, if we go to the 8 
points, do you see that?---Yes. 

In your discussion with Detective Inspector Glow did he 
understand how you were putting it then?---! think he 
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understood, yes. 

Did you suggest to him that he should speak to people 
upstream and consider getting legal advice and possibly 
speaking to the OPP and letting them know about your 
concerns?---! briefed my Inspector on the obvious issues 
that we thought were quite glaringly obvious and I expected 
him to report appropriately. 

Then later on, on the same day you had a meeting with 
Porter, Iddles, Waddell, Glow and Mr Smith?---Yes. 

And I take it during the course of that meeting, which 
started at 3 o'clock and continued through to 4 o'clock, is 
that right?---Yes. 

You set out the dot points that occurred during the course 
of that meeting?---Yes. 

No doubt during the course of that meeting the points that 
you had set out previously in your discussion with 
Detective Inspector Glow would have been canvassed also, 
would they not?---Absolutely. 

COMMISSIONER: Unless you're about to finish I think we 
better take the afternoon break. 

MR WINNEKE: Yes, Commissioner. 

(Short adjournment.) 

COMMISSIONER: Yes. 

MR WINNEKE: Just about finished, Mr Black. I was asking 
about that meeting you had with Porter, Iddles, Waddell, 
Glow and Smith at 3 o'clock on the 3rd?---Yes. 

Effectively what this is about is you stating the position, 
the risks, setting out in quite clear terms what had gone 
on and the potential risks and wanting the position to go 
up the tree, to go up as high as it possibly can?---Yeah, 
well both Petra and Briars had legal teams, they had 
steering committees and I was just trying to go through my 
chain of command with the assistance of Mr Porter and get 
people to turn their minds to these things. 

Yes, okay. I follow that. The issues that you set out in 
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the meeting at 3 o'clock, she can't be allowed to sign the 
drafted statement without the issues being fully 
considered; is that correct?---Yes. 

Because it will lead to a review of the entire program, 
HSMU program?---Yes. 

Ultimately your view was that it might at best lead to 
charges being laid but you'll get to committal and that'll 
be the end of it?---That was a consideration, yes. 

But on the other side, the downside of that, what will come 
out of it is the fact that the person was arrested as a 
result of Ms Gobbo's assistance and then deployed against 
other people, do you see that, second-last dot point on the 
page?---Yes. 

In relation to all of those people, their convictions will 
be looked very closely into?---Could be, yes. 

Insofar as - and you were pointing out the difference 
between the two, Petra and Briars. She was deployed 
against Dale as a witness, that is wired, and sent along to 
speak to Dale and at least it was conceivable that she 
could get through that proceeding and it mightn't come out 
that she's a source, but when you look, and you go over the 
page to Waters, the deployment against Waters was very 
clearly, you say, as a source?---That was the impression I 
had from Briars. 

And one of the concerns that you had, and indeed I think 
Mr Iddles had, was that in order for her to make the 
statement, what she had done was to go through all of the 
notes that had been taken throughout her role as a human 
source and which the SDU had recorded in its ICRs and those 
notes had in fact been turned into a statement?---That was 
done without our knowledge. 

Yeah?---More importantly, the Central Source Registrar's 
knowledge because he should have approved that and clearly 
he didn't. 

And not only that she'd been, I think there's a note 
somewhere saying that she'd been using those notes, or at 
least those statement or those ICRs had been used by her to 
refresh her memory?---That was a decision done by Briars 
and the steering committee. That wasn't a great decision. 
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And clearly that would mean that those notes would then be 
very much fodder for a claim for disclosure?---Absolutely. 

You make the points then again and the desire is that this 
go up the tree to Moloney for him to consider 
it?---Correct. 

Then there's further discussion about it and you make notes 
about it with Mr Owen?---Yes. 

You were called by Owen from HSMU on leave. He'd just been 
alerted that the SDU has released the SCR to Briars Task 
Force and there's concerns the process wasn't followed, 
correct?---Yeah, there was a supposition that we had 
breached the hand-over of the contact reports, and that's 
not the case, as we've previously discussed. 

Was it not ultimately Mr White who handed the ICRs 
over?---I'm not sure about that. 

Then on the 12th there's another entry I think at p.156, so 
the next page. You have a chat to Mr White about it at 
4.15?---Yes. 

About the proposal to take a statement. Then again on 15 
June there's a further meeting and on this occasion it's at 
the St Kilda Road complex?---Yes. 

Porter, Biggin, Mr Glow, Mr White, Mr Fox and Mr Smith are 
present?---Correct. 

And then there's a further discussion there, risk versus 
benefit. VicPol has now received a subpoena for Gobbo as a 
witness via Petra?---Yes. 

Who wants Waddell to listen to the SDU recordings? Someone 
anyway?---! understand it's the Briars steering committee, 
the Task Force. 

They want Waddell to listen to them and then you make notes 
about the risk versus benefit and the board of management 
directing that this occur?---Yes. 

Who's the board of management?---It'll be reflected on the 
steering committee minutes of Briars but I think off memory 
it's Mr Overland and the rest - in fairness to everyone I'd 
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have to get that checked. 

Yes, all right?---But it's a steering committee- - -

For Briars, anyone who's on that steer~ttee. And 
the question was why and it's becausellllllllll has proven 
to be a liar and therefore there was a desire to use 
Ms Gobbo in effect to bolster the case?---! guess that was 
one of the more obvious considerations, yeah. 

A subpoena had been received at Petra for 
discovery, that's a different person?---Yes. 

That might be Mr Williams. In any event - yes, okay. 
Again, the possible failure of public interest immunity, et 
cetera. Mr Porter is to persuade the board of management 
that the option of making Ms Gobbo a witness is a very 
dangerous decision and it was outlined very strongly that 
the issue of Briars is insignificant compared to the 
potential harm to the organisation, convictions and the 
future use of the Human Source Management Unit, 
correct?---Yes. 

And particularly given the probative value of this request 
and the failure of the main Crown witness, that is 

to give accurate evidence and any public 
interest application would probably fail given the 
circumstances surrounding Ms Gobbo?---Yes. 

Then there's a debriefing with Mr White, do you see that, 
and others?---Yes. 

Can I ask you this, just finally: the Commission asked you 
to prepare a statement some time ago now and one of the 
questions that it asked you was to, in broad terms, 
describe whether there was ever any concern about using 
Ms Gobbo as a human source. You recall that?---Can I - I 
accept if that's what you're putting, I accept that to be 
the case. In my first statement I seem to recall. 

The question was, "Provide details of your awareness as to 
whether any concerns were raised at any time by members of 
Victoria Police or other policing or law enforcement 
agencies, for example, the AFP, the Office of Public 
Prosecutions, the Commonwealth Director of Public 
Prosecutions, as to the use of Ms Gobbo as a human source 
including in relation to each of those concerns who raised 
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the concerns, with whom it was raised, by what means, when 
the concern was raised, what the concern was, whether the 
obtaining of legal advice was raised and what, if anything, 
was done about the concern", do you see that?---Could I 
have the paragraph number? 

Yes, paragraph 98 is the answer, question 21 above it. 
It's at p.37 of your statement?---Yes. 

The answer was, "At no time did any member of Victoria 
Police, other law enforcement agency or any prosecution 
authority ever raise any concerns as to the use of Ms Gobbo 
as a human source during her time under the management of 
the SDU. Many members of the police command were well 
aware of her registration but at no time did anyone raise 
any concern"?---Yes. 

Was that strictly accurate, Mr Black?---Yes. 

Do you say that was an accurate answer and a fair dinkum 
answer to that question to this Royal Commission?---It's a 
statement I made to the Royal Commission, of course it is. 

Well you had concerns about her use and you thought that it 
could lead to a Royal Commission. Why didn't you set that 
out?---Because I answered question 21. 

Well that doesn't answer my question?---No one raised 
issues from Victoria Police about our use of the source. 

So do you - - - ?---No one. 

Did you take that to mean any member of Victoria Police 
other than yourself or any other member of the SDU?---Yes. 

But you certainly had concerns, didn't you?---Yes. 

And others members of the SDU had concerns?---Yes. 

What you did say is that, "Two major concerns that were 
constants for the SDU were the safety of Ms Gobbo in 
ensuring she was not compromised. Both objectives were 
achieved until Ms Gobbo's involvement in the Petra Task 
Force from January 2009, at the direction of Simon 
Overland. Six weeks later Simon Overland was promoted to 
Chief Commissioner of the Police Force and Ms Gobbo became 
a Crown witness for Petra Task Force". So to say that you 
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thought that that question applied to other people isn't 
really frank, is it?---Of course it is. 

Yes, all right. Thanks very much. 

MR HOLT: I think we agreed I might go next, if the 
Commissioner pleases. 

COMMISSIONER: Yes. 

<CROSS-EXAMINED BY MR HOLT: 

Mr Black, it's Saul Halt here, counsel for Victoria Police. 
Can you see me okay and hear me?---Yes. 

I have a few topic to cover with you but I don't think any 
should be particularly long. I want to ask you first 
about, just going back to a topic you covered a while ago, 
about the way in which material or information was stored 
at the SDU as compared to the HSMU?---Yes. 

I'm right, aren't I, that the audio of conversations with 
Ms Gobbo - we'll just focus on her for now - with Ms Gobbo 
were initially in any one month they went on to the SDU 
stand alone hard drive, the Z drive?---Correct. 

Then because, as you've complained to the Commission on the 
previous occasion that you gave evidence, because of the 
storage issues every month the SDU hard drive was cleansed 
of those. I don't mean that pejoratively, cleansed of 
those audio recordings and DVD copies were made; that's 
right, isn't it?---Correct, two copies were made of each 
month's recordings. 

They were then delivered to HSMU?---Yeah, and recorded in a 
manual log. 

Yes. But, again, as you explained to the Commission when 
you gave evidence some months ago before the Commission, 
and we have the transcript, they couldn't be accessed 
without the pass code book which was quite properly held by 
the SDU?---Correct. 

You indicated very fairly when you were answering questions 
from Mr Chettle that you didn't necessarily have complete 
knowledge about what happened with information transfer 
from the SDU hard drive other than the audios at the HSMU 
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end; is that right?---Correct. 

All right?---At that time, correct. 

All right. Indeed, one of the criticisms that you make of 
the Comrie report and the way in which that was put 
together was that they liaised with HSMU and didn't go to 
the SDU in order to get documents that it could otherwise 
have got from the SDU hard drive?---Correct. Well I can 
only assume that's where they sourced the material from. 

No, I understand. In terms then of the taking of material 
from the SDU hard drive other than the audios, you seemed 
to indicate in your evidence the other day that the whole 
drive was mirrored or copied and then taken to HSMU and 
accessed in effectively the same way, but that's not 
correct, is it?---! don't know if that's exactly what I 
said. So as far as the Dedicated Source Unit's concerned, 
that was basically a manual copy on to DVDs and jump drives 
and those materials were then taken to HSMU and downloaded 
so they could keep track of what records we were producing. 

But, for example, as you explained to us earlier today, the 
ICRs were only available to the HSMU once they'd been 
signed off by a controller?---Correct. 

So even though they would have existed on the SDU hard 
drive before being signed off as a controller, there was 
effectively a point at which they were given with some 
other relevant documents over to the HSMU?---Correct. 

All right, thank you. Just dealing then with your training 
in relation to the obligations of disclosure. I'd like no 
CV details please for obvious reasons. You've been a 
police officer for a long time?---Yes. 

In a lot of different roles?---Yes. 

You went through Detective Training School and have been 
part of other ongoing training by Victoria Police?---Yes. 

And as I think you make clear in your statement, and indeed 
probably in your evidence elsewhere, you have always been 
trained by Victoria Police and always understood that all 
relevant material needed to be disclosed subject to any 
Rule of Law to the defence in a criminal 
case?---Absolutely. 
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And in particular, to be clear, you have always been 
trained and have always understood and have always 
proceeded on the basis subject of Rules of Law to the 
contrary that exculpatory material needed to be disclosed 
to the defence?---Absolutely. 

Thank you. Just sort of tagging on to that issue. In 
terms of the availability of legal advice to members of 
Victoria Police, and you were asked questions about this 
when you were spoken to by the Commission many months ago, 
it's correct, isn't it, that if any police officer in 
Victoria Police needs legal advice, particularly in 
relation to public interest immunity or subpoena issues, 
they have got access to the VGSO, the Victorian Government 
Solicitors Office?---Correct. 

And that is the police branch of the Victorian Government 
Solicitors Office, a group of VGSO solicitors who 
effectively only do police work?---Correct. 

And you could go directly to them without needing to go, 
for example, through internal police Legal or anything like 
that, almost like a help desk?---And we did so with other 
matters whilst at the SDU. 

You've just predicted my next question. And that's a 
process you took advantage of on many occasions, quite 
properly?---I've had a lot of experience with that as an 
investigator. 

But as you explained to the Commission when you previously 
gave evidence, any member of Victoria Police could take up 
that service, in effect, to get that kind of legal 
assistance and help?---Correct, through the chain of 
command, absolutely. 

Absolutely. If a public interest immunity issue needed to 
be litigated in your experience it would be VGSO who would 
then in turn brief a barrister to appear on your behalf to 
make whatever arguments appropriately needed to be 
made?---Yes. 

And obviously, plainly enough, VGSO and whichever barrister 
was briefed could only operate on the basis of the 
information or instructions or anything that were given to 
them by the particular investigator or police officer who 
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was seeking their help at that time?---Yes. 

And on indictable, that is serious criminal matters that 
end up in the County or Supreme Courts, the other places 
you explained to the Commission also on the previous 
occasion that investigators in particular would regularly 
and appropriately go for advice is the OPP, the Office of 
Public Prosecutions?---Yes. 

Because it's the OPP who you're working with from the 
moment a case is in the committal stream in the 
Magistrates' Court right through to trial?---Yes. 

Thank you. Just dealing then with another topic, that is 
the topic of minutes. You were asked some questions about 
minute keeping of SDU operational meetings this morning, do 
you recall those questions?---Yes. 

And you indicated, with respect, entirely correctly, that 
minutes started to be taken as an evolutionary process but 
at some stage during the functioning of the SDU minute 
taking went from Sandy White's diaries to a more formal 
system?---Correct. 

If I suggested that started, I don't expect you to remember 
the date precisely, but if I suggest to you on the basis 
that we've seen and provided to the Commission, that that 
started on about 22 August 2007, would that sound about 
right?---That could be about right because that's roughly 
around the similar time we moved to the electronic diaries 
as well, so that would make sense. 

It would make perfect sense. Can we just look at a quick 
example, please. If I could have it up, 
VPL.2000.0001 .9370. These can go on all the screens, 
Commissioner, without difficulty at this stage. 
Commissioner, while that's coming up, I'm only going to 
tender it as an example but I will tender it. Perhaps we 
can do that now. 

COMMISSIONER: Right. 

MR HOLT: Could it have an A and B if the Commissioner 
please. It's called Unit Meeting Minutes for 6 January 
2009. Do you see that on your screen, Mr Black?---Not yet. 

Okay. Now. 
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#EXHIBIT RC630A - (Confidential) SDU Unit Meeting Minutes 
for 6/1/09. 

#EXHIBIT RC630B- (Redacted version.) 

MR HOLT: And I don't need anything about the detail but is 
this the kind of document we're talking about that came 
into existence?---Exactly. 

Thank you. If we can have that one down. I just want to 
ask you a couple of questions about the registration 
process and the document I'll have up will be 
VPL.0100.0121 .0164. This is Exhibit 514, Commissioner. 
While that's coming up, Mr Black, this is a - you'll see it 
electronically but it's a Force file in respect of Ms Gobbo 
which was located at HSMU and which seems to have hard copy 
documents, including the registration and the risk 
assessment on it, just so that you're clear what we're 
looking at when it comes up?---Sure. 

Just talking about process while that's coming up, the 
consequence of events, as I understand your evidence, is 
when a high risk source like Ms Gobbo is initially 
introduced to the Unit there would be an immediate 
registration for the purposes of assigning a number and 
permitting the assessment process that you've told us about 
to be carried on?---Yes, and it provides a natural cover to 
the individual we're assessing. 

I understand. From your perspective the actual point of 
registration here, September 2005, is not the point of 
decision to use a person as a human source on an ongoing 
basis, it's just the start of that journey?---Correct. 

Here you've explained that that process took something in 
the order of six weeks and a number of face-to-face 
meetings and other enquiries presumably?---Yeah, I think we 
had about four or five assessment meetings, as it were, 
before we were able to proceed. 

Understood. You're talking, when you talk about assessment 
meetings, about the meetings with Ms Gobbo?---Yes. 

And presumably in addition, I don't want you to go into 
trade craft, I'd be the last person to ask you to do that, 
but in terms of process you'd also be, we've heard a bit 
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about this, building a profile of her making other 
inquiries within Victoria Police holdings and that sort of 
thing?---Correct. 

Just out of interest, because it will become relevant in a 
moment, that task, that is the looking around holdings, the 
putting together of the profile, the gathering of 
information about Ms Gobbo, is that done by the SDU 
handlers or by your analysts or by HSMU? Who is doing that 
process?---That's done by our analysts, by our tactical 
investigation officers. Some people call them analysts, 
yes. 

They'd be the ones you'd expect to be sort of going out, 
tapping and using their analytical skills to bring any 
information to put together a profile to get the assessment 
done?---Correct, they have access to far more databases 
than what we have. 

That would include presumably the interrogation of Victoria 
Police intelligence and other holdings generally?---Yeah, 
they do specific training to acquire these skills and 
that's what we employ them for. 

In terms of accessing information that might be held about 
Ms Gobbo at the HSMU, would you expect them to be the 
conduit or the people who are doing that task as 
well?---Yes. 

Again, if there's material held at the HSMU, for example, 
about Ms Gobbo's previous registrations, your hope would be 
that the analysts from SDU would be the ones who would be 
working with HSMU to get that information?---Yes. 

You've got no idea, as we understand your evidence, very 
fairly, as to why that process failed in relation to the 
1999 registration here?---No. 

Thank you. We've got it, terrific. If we can have a look 
at the document up on the screen. Can we scroll through, 
please, to the - is that the first page of that document? 
0155. If we can go back to the beginning of the document, 
I apologise. Perfect, thank you. Could we make that 
bigger, just because it's late in the day and I can't see 
very well. This is the original registration form for 
Ms Gobbo, do you see that?---Yes. 
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It's dated 16 September 2005?---Yes. 

It demonstrates, we won't use any names, it shows, other 
than Mr Calishaw's at the end, it shows the process of the 
registration of Ms Gobbo as a human source?---Correct. 

Again, everyone involved in this process would have 
understood that this was not the decision to use Ms Gobbo 
on an ongoing basis, this was just getting her in the 
system for cover and so on, perfectly legitimately as 
you've put it?---Yes. 

Terrific, thank you. That's Exhibit 514. I understand 
that these were evolving processes at the time, this was a 
new Unit and a new approach to these really difficult areas 
of work, that's right, isn't it?---Yes. 

Now given that we have this initial registration signed off 
by the CSR, the LSR and then the CSR, at this point was 
there a document that signed off at the far end, that is at 
the point the risk assessment had been finished and the big 
decision was to be made, that is the, "Are we going to use 
this person on an ongoing basis?" decision?---Yes, that's 
ultimately at the end of the risk assessment. 

Yes, but my question is was there a document or a process 
that forced all these decision makers, particularly the LSR 
and the CSR, to actually have a point in time when that 
decision is made and documented, or was that a weakness in 
the system which kind of improved over time?---No, I think 
if the risk assessment process is followed correctly 
there's clearly an area where the risk is endorsed and 
accepted by Victoria Police Command. 

Can I just check that. Can I suggest to you something 
slightly different, which is that at this point in time 
because of the very understandable and proper evolution of 
process, there were actually two different kinds of forms, 
pro forma or precedent forms, being used for risk 
assessment recording at this stage, do you recall 
that?---In September 2005? 

Yes?---That's the only - well unless - the only risk 
assessment form that we were using was the one we had in 
our manual and that's what was subject to 3838. 

Great. If we can scroll this document to that form which 
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we see here in the form that it ends up at the HSMU. 
You'll understand this is just a scan of the whole 
file?---Sure. 
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It'll come up. I'm sorry, it's the page I was originally 
on in fact. I think it was 64. Two more pages now. Yes, 
perfect. This is the one of the 15th of the 11th 05, do 
you see that?---Yes. 

It ends up in the HSMU file. Can we just go down to the 
bottom of that page. Thank you. Keep going to the end. 
That's the overall assessment at the end but that's not 
what you're talking about, is it?---No, there's another 
page of the, I think it says - I think off the top of 
memory the LSR or the CSR is supposed to sign off on. 

Yes, but here we can see that's p.7 of 7. I'm not 
suggesting anything untoward about this, I'm just 
identifying the actual process. On this document there 
appears to be no such space?---It's an additional page. 

Of the same document?---Yeah. 

Can I get you to have a look, please, at this document, 
which is - it was produced yesterday. It's been given to 
the counsel assisting, VPL.0005.0200.0001. While that's 
coming up, you produced through Mr Chettle a document a 
couple of days ago which was a pro forma that you'd found 
on the SDU hard drive, do you recall that?---Yeah, I had 
that for some time, yeah, it was a blank template. 

That's the one that was produced and I've had confirmed, I 
don't need to get it, but it's Exhibit 625 and it's now 
COM.0025.0008.0001. The document I'm now showing you, in 
fairness to you, is a document that's been produced by 
Victoria Police that also comes from the precedents on the 
SDU hard drive?---Okay. 

Do you see at the bottom it says - sorry, at the top it 
says new 09 03? Can you see that?---Yes. 

If we just scroll through it. You can see all the same 
headings that we're used to?---Yes. 

And we can see "Overall assessment" there. Keep 
going?---Yes. 
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You see the overall assessment is the end part of that 
document, just as it is in the one that was completed for 
Ms Gobbo?---Well, I see the populated seven pages that we 
have produced from the SDU, but there's another area where 
the LSR used to sign off on these forms. 

I'm suggesting this is a precedent which doesn't have that 
section because at this point the documents were evolving, 
perfectly understandably?---Well we wrote the risk 
assessment manual so I can only tell you what I knew and 
what I saw and what I did. I don't know what was happening 
in September 2003 but when we put the risk assessment 
manual together at the commencement of the SDU pilot that 
Mr Calishaw was part of, it had a clear area that was 
endorsed by the officer, because ultimately, and I think 
it's pretty well reflected in the policy at the time, the 
handler does his section, the controller does his section, 
and then an officer, I'm pretty sure the last page is the 
LSR, is meant to sign off, because they talk about, you 
know, things like - they basically accept the risk and 
proceed with the registration. 

I understand, and the template you've shown us would see 
that process take place. What I'm suggesting is that at 
the time there were two templates in operation and that the 
Gobbo one in fact didn't have that place for an assessment 
anywhere other than the overall assessment section?---On 
the bottom of this page you're showing me it says page 2 of 
3. Where's p.3? 

Go to the next page. It's right there, with nothing on it, 
do you see?---It's blank. 

In the template?---! can't assist any further other than 
the explanation I've given. 

I understand. But if the document we're looking at, not 
the document we're looking at on the screen, but Exhibit 
514, the hard copy file from HSMU doesn't have any 
endorsement of that on it, that is by the LSR or the CSR, 
would you take it, given your knowledge of things at the 
time, as meaning that there was no such form 
completed?---With the endorsement on it? 

If that's what's found in hard copy at the HSMU?---Well 
you'd have to ask the LSR. I mean what's the point of me 
handing the risk assessment to the Acting Superintendent 
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without him getting to endorse the risk assessment? 

Sure. Thank you for saying that because it leads me to the 
last question on this topic?---Sure. 

You've given evidence based on your diary that you gave the 
risk assessment to Mr Calishaw on 23 November 2005, do you 
recall that?---Yes. 

Mr Winneke asked you some questions about whether you could 
actually recall that happening and very understandably you 
said no, you're relying on your notes?---Yes. 

There will be evidence that Mr Calishaw, based on his 
diaries, was on leave on 23 November 2005. I just want to 
give you an opportunity to comment on whether you actually 
now have any recollection of giving that to Mr Calishaw or 
not?---If my diary says I handed it to him, I handed it to 
him. 

Even if his diary says he was on leave?---! don't care what 
his diary says. 

Understood?---! know what I did. I accept, I accept - I'm 
not being blase about that, but this was a pretty serious 
document. It's not like something I'd just slip under his 
door. 

Can I just turn to another topic which is the last things 
that Mr Winneke was asking you about, the SWOT analysis 
which was done, as we understand it, when it was proposed 
that Ms Gobbo become a witness for Petra?---Yes. 

So the first part of it. Then the second part of it which 
is the concerns very similar to the SWOT analysis that you 
continued to express when it was proposed that Ms Gobbo 
would be a witness for Briars?---Yes. 

And in particular, as you very candidly explained, you 
consistently were explaining, to use your phrase, to 
Command, through the chain of command, that it was 
dangerous to the reputation of the organisation if these 
steps to turn her into a witness were taken?---Yes. 

You couldn't have been clearer with them about that?---! 
tried, yes. 
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Nonetheless, as you know on both occasions, Command, if I 
can use that phrase, nonetheless goes ahead and uses, or 
endorses or directs that Ms Gobbo be used as a 
witness?---So be it. That's their decision. 

No, absolutely, but that was the decision they made even in 
the face of advice that that might expose some history of 
Ms Gobbo's relationship with Victoria Police?---Yes. 

Now finally, I'm sorry - almost finally, you are 
extraordinarily critical of the Comrie review in your 
second statement, is that a fair summation?---Yes. 

You use some quite extraordinary language about the 
motivations of the persons Mr Comrie, a former Chief 
Commissioner of Police, and Mr Gleeson, the person who was 
assigned by Victoria Police to assist in the investigation 
and writing of that report?---Yes. 

With the benefit of any time to reflect do you want to tone 
down any of the criticisms of those persons?---! think the 
mere fact to this day - I mean we've never been spoken to, 
we've never been given an opportunity to bring some 
balance, but more importantly we did not target information 
subject to LPP. 

What Mr Comrie said in his report was that it was open, 
reading the ICRs as he did, for a person to conclude that 
you may have done so?---May have. My understanding and my 
reading of the Comrie report is that it seems quite clear 
he flags the fact he's surprised there's no recordings. 

Can I ask you just one question finally on this topic. 
What is it that you say that Mr Comrie and Mr Gleeson 
should have had in terms of actual records that might have 
made a difference to the conclusions, the highly critical 
conclusions in that report?---! think if they had the 
benefit of examining the SDU database. 

For which documents?---In its entirety, listening to the 
recordings and speaking to the people that were dealing, 
being us, speaking to the SDU personnel, I think they would 
have got a far more accurate appraisal. My criticism of 
the Comrie report is basically just the level of 
investigation. I don't know to this day, I don't know 
where this Interpose file came from, but it seemed to have 
quite rightfully been constructed in a rather jumbled mess, 
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even on Mr Comrie's observations. This is a - I'm just 
surprised that we find ourselves at the end of the Comrie 
report and nobody bothered to speak to us. 

All right. Can I just come back to my question and try and 
put things in a level of precision perhaps. Is it your 
position that had the audio files been listened to, that 
that would have improved the critical conclusions of the 
Comrie report from your perspective?---Yes. 

Right. What in the SDU database, given that I think we've 
now disclosed the world of it, what in the SDU database, 
which documents do you say might have altered the 
conclusions of the Comrie review?---Well the mere sequence 
of - it's critical of the sequence of the contact reports. 
They were all there in chronological order - - -

I'm sorry, Mr Black. I didn't ask that question. The 
question that I asked was which documents in the database 
would have made a difference in your view to Mr Comrie's 
conclusions? That's what I asked and I'd like you to 
answer it, please?---The contact reports and the 
recordings. 

Contact reports, let's focus on those for a moment. If 
you've read the Comrie report you'll understand that other 
than that ICR 45/46 issue, Mr Comrie had access to the 
content of every single ICR, do you understand that?---Yes. 

Right. Do you understand that the jumbled mess that it 
was, was pointed out in the course of - by Mr Gleeson, in 
the course of doing the Comrie review and he made enquiries 
of HSMU to attempt to solve it? Are you aware of 
that?---No, I wasn't aware of that. 

If he did that is that something you would expect a 
diligent investigator to do, Mr Black, perhaps before you 
made disparaging comments about them in a public document 
before a Royal Commission?---! was asked to reply to the 
Royal Commission and that's what I did. Unfortunately the 
first time I got to see the Comrie report was in response 
to this Royal Commission. I'd never seen it before. 

Commissioner, could I have the liberty of a couple more 
minutes, because then I can complete if I may? 

COMMISSIONER: Sure. 
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MR HOLT: Thank you. I'm going to ask you some very brief 
questions now about the circumstances of the arrest of the 
person that we can't talk about in terms of their name and 
pseudonym in open court, so I'm going to keep this 
general?---Understand. 

I just want to check a couple of things. Is that 
okay?---Sure, absolutely. 

As I understand your evidence you were on leave and 
therefore not involved in any planning process for that or 
the discussions that went up to that occurring?---Correct. 

Again, as I understand it, the knowledge that you gained 
from it afterwards, and I don't mean this critically at 
all, came from conversations with Sandy White?---Correct. 

So to the extent that you've given evidence about things 
that investigators might have done beforehand or agreements 
that might have been made or what Command knew, that comes 
from your recollection now of conversations with Sandy 
White?---Yes. 

And may I take it given Sandy White's intimate involvement 
in those processes, you would defer to his recollection of 
them over your own?---Yes. 

That is what occurs beforehand?---Yes. 

Yes, that's the cross-examination. Thank you, 
Commissioner. 

COMMISSIONER: All right then. 

MR CHETTLE: Commissioner, before you adjourn can I raise a 
matter. Apparently the minutes of the meetings that the 
witness has been talking about for two days are now 
available. 

MR HOLT: Not now available, they were produced months and 
months ago, Commissioner. 

MR CHETTLE: We have been asking for them. The witness 
will confirm we've asked for them. 

MR HOLT: They're on Loricated. 
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MR CHETTLE: I can't get copies of what's on Loricated. 
It's not useful to be met with the proposition that we got 
them and you haven't. What I'm trying to ask for, Mr Halt, 
can I have a copy of them overnight before this witness 
concludes his evidence? 

COMMISSIONER: Is that able to be done, Mr Halt? 

MR HOLT: I suspect so, Commissioner. But they're on 
Loricated which has been provided to Mr Chettle and his 
clients, constant access since March, and those documents 
have been provided upon request when they've been asked for 
but of course I'll make those arrangements, Commissioner. 

MR CHETTLE: I have been forbidden to photocopy one 
document. I can't take anything off Loricated. I'm 
allowed to go down to the police headquarters and look at 
it. I have not seen them and all I'm asking for is a 
chance to do it before - and they've been produced. 

COMMISSIONER: It seems as though you will now have that 
opportunity, Mr Chettle. 

25 MR CHETTLE: Thank you. 
26 

16 : 32 : 31 27 
16 : 32 : 33 28 
16 : 32 : 34 29 
16 : 32 : 35 30 

31 
16 : 32 : 39 32 
16 : 32 : 43 33 
16 : 32 : 43 34 

35 
16 : 32 : 45 36 
16 : 32 : 48 37 
16 : 32 : 49 38 

39 
16 : 32 : 51 40 
16 : 32 : 53 41 
16 : 32 : 57 42 
16 : 32 : 59 43 
16 : 32 : 59 44 

45 
16 : 33 : 02 46 
16 : 33 : 05 47 

COMMISSIONER: That will be arranged overnight and as soon 
as possible. That will be good. 

MR CHETTLE: Thank you. 

COMMISSIONER: Mr Nathwani, how long will you be tomorrow? 

MR NATHWANI: Fifteen to 20 minutes. 

COMMISSIONER: Right. Mr Chettle, any approximate idea? 

MR CHETTLE: An hour to two. 

COMMISSIONER: Right. I'm just thinking then we're not 
going to be going into the secret session until - it's not 
going to be before 11, is it? 

MR CHETTLE: No. 

COMMISSIONER: We'll work on that. The other thing is I 
have to adjourn early tomorrow to return to Brisbane so 
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we'll be adjourning at 1 .40. We'll have a mid-morning 
break some time after 11.30 and then sit on to 1 .40. All 
right then, we'll adjourn until 9.30 tomorrow, 

<(THE WITNESS WITHDREW) 

ADJOURNED UNTIL FRIDAY 25 OCTOBER 2019 
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